

# Human rights and the environment

The interdependence of human rights and a healthy environment in the context of national legislation on natural resources

## Human rights and the environment

The interdependence of human rights and a healthy environment in the context of national legislation on natural resources

John H. Knox Wake Forest University

Elisa Morgera University of Strathclyde

#### Required citation:

Knox, J.H. and Morgera, E. 2022. Human rights and the environment – The interdependence of human rights and a healthy environment in the context of national legislation on natural resources. FAO Legal Papers No. 109. Rome, FAO. https://doi.org/10.4060/cb9664en

The designations employed and the presentation of material in this information product do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) concerning the legal or development status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. The mention of specific companies or products of manufacturers, whether or not these have been patented, does not imply that these have been endorsed or recommended by FAO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned.

The views expressed in this information product are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views or policies of FAO.

ISSN 2664-5777 [Print] ISSN 2413-807X [Online]

ISBN 978-92-5-136097-2 © FAO, 2022



Some rights reserved. This work is made available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo/legalcode).

Under the terms of this licence, this work may be copied, redistributed and adapted for non-commercial purposes, provided that the work is appropriately cited. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that FAO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the FAO logo is not permitted. If the work is adapted, then it must be licensed under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If a translation of this work is created, it must include the following disclaimer along with the required citation: "This translation was not created by the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). FAO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original [Language] edition shall be the authoritative edition."

Disputes arising under the licence that cannot be settled amicably will be resolved by mediation and arbitration as described in Article 8 of the licence except as otherwise provided herein. The applicable mediation rules will be the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization http://www.wipo.int/amc/en/mediation/rules and any arbitration will be conducted in accordance with the Arbitration Rules of the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law (UNCITRAL).

**Third-party materials.** Users wishing to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, are responsible for determining whether permission is needed for that reuse and for obtaining permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

**Sales, rights and licensing.** FAO information products are available on the FAO website (www.fao.org/publications) and can be purchased through publications-sales@fao.org. Requests for commercial use should be submitted via: www.fao.org/contact-us/licence-request. Queries regarding rights and licensing should be submitted to: copyright@fao.org.

Cover Photo: © AU-UN IST Photo / Stuart Price / Public domain

#### Contents

Acl	cknowledgements	iv		
For	preword	V		
Acı	cronyms and abbreviations	vi		
1.	1. Introduction			
2.	Environmental human rights law	3		
	2.1. Recognition of an autonomous human right to a healthy environment	3		
	2.2. Access rights in international environmental instruments	5		
	2.3. The application of human rights to environmental issues by human rights bodies	6		
	2.4. The Framework Principles on Human Rights and the Environment	9		
	2.5. Relevance for national legislation on natural resources	19		
3.	Conservation of nature and the rights of Indigenous Peoples and other rural rights holders	23		
	3.1. General considerations with respect to biodiversity and human rights	23		
	3.1.1. The dependence of human rights on biodiversity	23		
	3.1.2. States' general obligations to protect biodiversity	25		
	3.2. Rights of Indigenous Peoples and rural communities in relation to conservation	28		
	3.3. Rural women's rights	32		
	3.4. Children's rights and the environment	33		
	3.5. Relevance for national legislation on natural resources	35		
4.	Climate change and biodiversity	39		
	4.1. Human rights and climate change	39		
	4.2. Biodiversity and everyone's right to health	42		
5.	Conclusions	45		
Re	eferences	47		

#### Acknowledgements

This legal paper was written by Elisa Morgera and John H. Knox under an agreement between the FAO Development Law Service and the University of Strathclyde. The paper was prepared under the direction of Margret Vidar, FAO.

FAO is grateful to the writers and to Nargis Bozorova, Carmen Bullón-Caro, Luisa Cruz, Francesca Felicani-Robles, Julia Nakamura and Margret Vidar for their written inputs, valuable contributions and feedback, as well as for the verbal contributions given by a number of FAO personnel.

The publication was edited by Anastasia Clafferty and the graphic design was undertaken by Neil Moger.

#### Foreword

Personnel in the Development Law Service of the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) come from a variety of legal backgrounds. Some are specialized in fields relating to food, agricultural land, water or fisheries law, while others have an educational background in either international human rights law or in international environmental law, in addition to their national law degrees. For this reason, the Development Law Service considered it valuable to enhance its capacities in applying both human rights law and environmental law, to take full advantage of the many important developments in both fields for natural resources legislation.

In order to achieve this, FAO hired the University of Strathclyde to grant the services of Elisa Morgera, Professor of Global Environmental Law and Director of the Strathclyde Centre for Environmental Law & Governance and John H. Knox, Henry C. Lauerman Professor of International Law at Wake Forest University, former Special Rapporteur for the United Nations Human Rights Council (HRC) on environment and human rights, to hold two capacity development sessions with the Development Law Service and other interested FAO colleagues.

As it is to be expected that natural resources legal experts involved in technical legislative work for other international institutions and organizations, or those working with national governments or non-governmental organizations (NGOs) share similar characteristics to the personnel of the FAO Development Law Service, it was decided to make the content of the sessions more widely available. On this basis, and as a result of the valuable discussions that transpired during the delivery of the sessions and other inputs received from FAO, there was consensus to further transmit this knowledge and adapt it into this legal paper.

### Acronyms and abbreviations

CBD	Convention on Biological Diversity
CCPR	United Nations Human Rights Committee
CEACR	Committee of Experts on the Application of Conventions and Recommendations
CEDAW	Convention on Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women
CESCR	Committee on Economic, Social, and Cultural Rights
COP	Forest farmer cooperative organization
CRC	Convention on the Rights of the Child
CRPD	Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities
ECHR	European Court of Human Rights European Court of Human Rights
EIA	Environmental impact assessment
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations
FILAC	Fund for the Development of the Indigenous Peoples of Latin American and the Caribbean
FPIC	Free, prior and informed consent
GC	General Comment
GR	General Recommendation
HRC	United Nations Human Rights Council
IACtHR	Inter-American Court of Human Rights
ICCA	Indigenous and Community Conserved Areas
ICCPR	International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights
ICERD	International Covenant for Economic, Social, and Cultural Rights
ICESCR	International Convention on the Elimination of all forms of Racial Discrimination
ILO	International Covenant for Economic Social and Cultural Rights
IPBES	Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity International Labour Organization
ITPGRFA	International Treaty on Plant Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture

OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
OHCHR	Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights
REDD+	Reducing emissions from deforestation and forest degradation
SDG	Sustainable Development Goals
UDHR	Universal Declaration of Human Rights
UN	United Nations
UNDRIP	United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples
UNDROP	United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Peasants and Other People Working in Rural Areas
UNEP	United Nations Environment Programme
UNCCD	United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification in those Countries Experiencing Serious Drought and/or Desertification, particularly in Africa
UNFCCC	UN Framework Convention on Climate Change
UNGA	United Nations General Assembly
VGFSyN	Voluntary Guidelines on Food Systems and Nutrition
VGGT	Voluntary Guidelines on the Responsible Governance of Tenure of Land, Fisheries and Forests in the Context of National Food Security
WFP	World Food Programme
WHO	World Health Organization

#### 1. Introduction

International environmental law developed initially in parallel with international human rights law, despite some references in early environmental documents (such as the *Stockholm Declaration of 1972*) to human rights. However, international human rights law is increasingly being brought to bear on the health and environmental consequences of agricultural practices, while at the same time a human right to a safe and healthy environment has gained increasing international recognition. For example, the United Nations Human Rights Committee (CCPR), which monitors the *International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR)*, held in 2019 that a state had violated its human rights obligations by not adequately regulating the use of chemicals in large-scale agricultural production, which had caused the death of one person, caused serious health problems for others, along with damage to their fruit trees, farm animals, crops, and water. The Committee stated in a communication on *Portillo Cáceres and others v. Paraguay* that the state's failure had violated its obligations to respect and ensure the victims' rights to life and to privacy, family, and home life. The Committee has encouraged potential claimants to bring other cases like this one to its attention.

This legal paper reflects on the evolution of international law on the interdependence of human rights and the environment. It illustrates their significance for the development and implementation of national laws on agricultural development and the management of renewable natural resources, ranging from land, water, fisheries, plants, and animals, to food, forestry, wildlife, biodiversity and trade laws. It is also relevant for national laws on climate change, gender equality, agribusiness operations, the right to food, the right to water and the prevention of potential conflicts arising from the competition for natural resources. The paper brings together lessons learned through the mandate of the former United Nations Special Rapporteur on human rights and the environment, John H. Knox, and academic research on international biodiversity law and human rights, by Elisa Morgera. In Section 2, the paper gives an overview of the increasing cross-fertilization between international environmental law and international human rights law. Section 3 focuses specifically on nature conservation and the human rights of Indigenous Peoples and other rural rights holders. Section 4 focuses on other areas of the nexus between human rights, climate change and biodiversity that are of particular relevance to national laws on natural resources. The conclusions in Section 5 summarize the key messages arising from the previous sections of the paper.

#### 2. Environmental human rights law

The last 25 years have seen an enormous increase in the breadth and depth of environmental human rights law. This development has occurred along three main paths: (1) recognition of an autonomous right to a healthy environment at the regional and national levels; (2) the inclusion of procedural "access rights" in environmental treaties; and (3) the application by human rights bodies of other human rights, including rights to life and health, to environmental issues, etc. This section briefly describes each of the three areas and outlines the current and evolving human rights obligations of states relating to the environment, as set out in the *Framework Principles on Human Rights and the Environment* that were presented to the Human Rights Council in 2018 by the Special Rapporteur on human rights and the environment.

## 2.1. Recognition of an autonomous human right to a healthy environment

The first way that the relationship between human rights and the environment has been codified is through recognition of the human right to a healthy environment. David R. Boyd, the current Special Rapporteur on human rights and the environment, reports that, 156 of the 193 members of the United Nations have legally recognized the right to a healthy environment through regional treaties and/or national laws (Boyd, 2019a).

In 1981, the African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights (African Charter) became the first human rights treaty to include an environmental right, providing in Article 24 that all peoples have the right to "a general satisfactory environment favourable to their development." Seven years later, the Additional Protocol to the American Convention on Human Rights (San Salvador Protocol) in Article 11, was the first treaty to state the "right to live in a healthy environment" as an individual right. Two later instruments, the 2004 Arab Charter on Human Rights (Arab Charter) and the 2012 Human Rights Declaration of the Association of South East Asian Nations (ASEAN) countries (ASEAN Declaration), include the right to a "healthy" or "safe, clean, and sustainable" environment as an element of the right to an adequate standard of living (Article 38 and Principle 28(f) respectively). Although the Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms (European Convention on Human Rights) and the European Social Charter do not explicitly recognize the right to a healthy environment, in 1998, the UN Economic Commission for Europe adopted the (Aarhus) Convention on Access to Information, Public Participation in Decision-making and Access to Justice in Environmental Matters. The Aarhus Convention provides for rights of access to information, public participation, and rights to remedy, and states in Article 1 that its parties shall guarantee these rights "In order to contribute to the protection of the right of every person of present and future generations to live in an environment adequate to his or her health and well-being." Most recently, in 2018, Latin American and Caribbean countries adopted the Regional Agreement on Access to Information, Public Participation and Justice in Environmental Matters in Latin America and the Caribbean (Escazú Agreement), which includes in Article 1 the "right of every person of present and future generations to live in a healthy environment and to sustainable development."

Most countries in the world now belong to a regional treaty recognizing the right to a healthy environment, including 52 parties to the African Charter, 16 parties to the San Salvador Protocol, 16 parties to the Arab Charter, 45 parties to the Aarhus Convention, and 12 parties to

the Escazú Agreement (of which 7 are also parties to the San Salvador Protocol). Furthermore, another 10 states have adopted the ASEAN Declaration.

At the national level, at least 100 countries provide direct constitutional protection to some form of a right to a healthy environment (Boyd, 2018), and at least 12 other countries, including India and Pakistan, have asserted that the right to a healthy environment is inherent in the constitutional right to life (Boyd, 2011). In some countries, the right has rarely, if ever, resulted in litigation. But many other countries, including for example Argentina, Costa Rica, India, Pakistan, and the Philippines, have developed an extensive domestic jurisprudence based on the right to a healthy environment (Boyd, 2012; Daly and May, 2018).

In most of the regional human rights systems, the right is not subject to independent judicial or quasi-judicial review. However, the African Charter's recognition of the right of peoples to "a general satisfactory environment favorable to their development" (Article 24), was the basis for an important decision by the African Commission on Human and Peoples' Rights in 2001, in *Social and Economic Rights Action Centre v. Nigeria*. The Commission found that oil pollution of the Niger Delta region by a consortium of the Nigerian Government and Royal Dutch Shell had violated the human rights of the Ogoni people living in the Delta, including not only the right to a satisfactory environment protected in Article 24 of the Charter, but also the right to health recognized in Article 16. The Commission stated that Nigeria had duties to take "reasonable and other measures to prevent pollution and ecological degradation, to promote conservation, and to secure an ecologically sustainable development and use of natural resources" (para. 52), and that compliance with the "spirit" of Articles 16 and 24:

must also include ordering or at least permitting independent scientific monitoring of threatened environments, requiring and publicizing environmental and social impact studies prior to any major industrial development, undertaking appropriate monitoring and providing information to those communities exposed to hazardous materials and activities and providing meaningful opportunities for individuals to be heard and to participate in the development decisions affecting their communities (African Charter, para. 53).

More recently, in 2017, the Inter-American Court of Human Rights (IACtHR) issued an extensive advisory opinion on human rights and the environment, which addressed the human right to a healthy environment as well as several other aspects of the relationship between human rights and the environment. The Court stated:

The right to a healthy environment has been understood as a right that has both individual and also collective connotations. In its collective dimension, the right to a healthy environment constitutes a universal value that is owed to both present and future generations. That said, the right to a healthy environment also has an individual dimension insofar as its violation may have a direct and an indirect impact on the individual owing to its connectivity to other rights, such as the rights to health, personal integrity, and life. Environmental degradation may cause irreparable harm to human beings; thus, a healthy environment is a fundamental right for the existence of humankind (IACtHR, para. 59).

The Working Group on the Protocol of San Salvador indicated that the right to a healthy environment, as established in this instrument, involved the following five State obligations: (a) guaranteeing everyone, without any discrimination, a healthy environment in which to live; (b) guaranteeing everyone, without any discrimination, basic public services; (c) promoting environmental protection; (d) promoting environmental conservation, and (e) promoting improvement of the environment (IACtHR, para. 60).

The Court considers it important to stress that, as an autonomous right, the right to a healthy environment, unlike other rights, protects the components of the environment, such as forests, rivers and seas, as legal interests in themselves, even in the absence of the certainty or evidence of a risk to individuals. This means that it protects nature and the environment, not only because of the benefits they provide to humanity or the effects that their degradation may have on other human rights, such as health, life or personal integrity, but because of their importance to the other living organisms with which we share the planet that also merit protection in their own right. In this regard, the Court notes a tendency, not only in court judgments, but also in Constitutions, to recognize legal personality and, consequently, rights to nature (IACtHR, para. 62).

In 2021, the HRC adopted a *Resolution on the human right to a clean, healthy and sustainable environment*, by 43 votes with no contrary votes and 4 abstentions, which *inter alia*:

- recognizes the right to a clean, healthy and sustainable environment as a human right that is important for the enjoyment of human rights (para. 1);
- notes that the right to a clean, healthy and sustainable environment is related to other rights and existing international law (para. 2);
- affirms that the promotion of the human right to a clean, healthy and sustainable environment requires the full implementation of the multilateral environmental agreements under the principles of international environmental law (para. 3).

States were also encouraged to:

- engage in capacity building efforts to protect the environment to fulfil their human rights obligations and commitments;
- enhance cooperation between states and the Office of the UN High Commissioner for Human Rights and other UN, international and regional bodies and processes, including civil society and non-state stakeholders on the implementation of the right;
- exchange good practices and knowledge to "build synergies between the protection of human rights and the protection of the environment";
- adopt policies for the enjoyment of the right to a clean, healthy and sustainable environment as appropriate, including with respect to biodiversity and ecosystems (para. 4).

The HRC also invited the United Nations General Assembly (UNGA) to consider the matter at future meetings (para. 5).

#### 2.2. Access rights in international environmental instruments

A second path in the development of environmental human rights law has been the inclusion in international environmental agreements of rights of access to information, to public participation, and to justice in environmental matters. Multilateral environmental agreements

usually do not refer to human rights explicitly, although an exception is the 2015 Paris Agreement on climate change, whose preamble states that its parties "should, when taking action to address climate change, respect, promote and consider their respective obligations on human rights."

However, many environmental treaties do encourage or require their parties to provide access to information or to promote public participation on issues within their scope: Article 6(a) of the *United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC)*, 1992; Article 3(a) of the *United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification in those Countries Experiencing Serious Drought and/or Desertification, particularly in Africa (UNCCD)*, 1994; Article 15(2) of the *Rotterdam Convention on Prior Informed Consent Procedure for Certain Hazardous Chemicals and Pesticides in International Trade (Rotterdam Convention)*, 1998; Articles 7(2) and 10(1) of the *Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants (Stockholm Convention)*, 2001; and Article 18(1) of the *Minamata Convention on Mercury (Minamata Convention)*, 2013. Principle 10 of the *Rio Declaration on Environment and Development (Rio Declaration)*, 1992, refers to access to information, participation, and remedy in specifically clear language:

Environmental issues are best handled with participation of all concerned citizens, at the relevant level. At the national level, each individual shall have appropriate access to information concerning the environment that is held by public authorities, including information on hazardous materials and activities in their communities, and the opportunity to participate in decision-making processes. States shall facilitate and encourage public awareness and participation by making information widely available. Effective access to judicial and administrative proceedings, including redress and remedy, shall be provided.

In 2010, the Governing Council of the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) adopted the *Guidelines for the Development of National Legislation on Access to Information, Public Participation and Access to Justice in Environmental Matters (Bali Guidelines)*, a set of 26 voluntary guidelines that provide general guidance to states on promoting the effective implementation of their commitments to Principle 10 within the framework of their national legislation and processes.

At the regional level, the Aarhus Convention, which has 47 parties in Europe and Central Asia, and the Escazú Agreement, which has 12 parties in Latin America and the Caribbean, each set out more detailed requirements that their parties collect and provide including environmental information, they facilitate public participation in environmental decision-making, and ensure that members of the public have access to legal remedies. Both of these agreements explicitly connect the rights detailed within to the human right to a healthy environment (Article 1 of both agreements).

## 2.3. The application of human rights to environmental issues by human rights bodies

The third path in the development of environmental human rights law has been the "greening" of human rights to life, health, property and others, by applying them to environmental issues. International human rights bodies have long held that states have obligations not only to refrain from violating human rights directly, but also to protect their enjoyment from interference by

others. Human rights tribunals and other expert bodies have held that environmental harm interferes with the full enjoyment of a wide range of human rights and that states have failed to meet their obligations to protect against such interference.

The first case from a regional human rights tribunal to illustrate this approach was *López Ostra v. Spain* in 1994, in which the European Court of Human Rights held that pollution that prevented an individual from living in her home could interfere with her right to respect for private and family life protected by Article 8 of the *European Convention on Human Rights*, even if the pollution did not endanger her health. The Court held that states have a duty to take reasonable and appropriate measures to protect against such interference, including by corporations. Later decisions construing Article 8 have allowed governments discretion in setting substantive standards but have imposed strict procedural requirements, including that, states assess the environmental effects of proposed activities, make environmental information public, and provide access to judicial remedies. Similarly, the European Court has held that to protect the right to life (recognized in Article 2 of the Convention) from environmental harm, states must establish legal frameworks to deter violations and investigate and punish violations if they nevertheless occur (Council of Europe, 2012).

In its 2017 advisory opinion on human rights and the environment, the Inter-American Court stated, among other things, that the rights to information, public participation, and access to justice are integral to the rights of life and personal integrity in the environmental context (IACtHR, 2017).

Decisions by regional tribunals have also influenced domestic courts in their application of human rights to environmental issues. For example, in 2019, the Supreme Court of the Netherlands held that Articles 2 and 8 of the European Convention on Human Rights impose a duty on the Dutch government to protect against the serious risk of loss of life and disruption of family life threatened by climate change, and that the government in *Netherlands v. Urgenda* had violated this duty by not striving to reduce greenhouse gas emissions at least 25 percent from 1990 levels by the end of 2020.

Human rights treaty bodies – that is, the bodies of independent experts appointed to monitor compliance with the UN human rights treaties – have also addressed environmental issues in construing their treaties. For example, in 2018, the United Nations Human Rights Committee, which oversees the *International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR)*, issued its *General Comment No. 36*, on the right to life protected by Article 6 of the Covenant. The Committee stated, among other things, that the duty of states to protect life "implies that States parties should take appropriate measures to address the general conditions in society that may give rise to direct threats to life or prevent individuals from enjoying their right to life with dignity," which may include "degradation of the environment" (GC 36, CCPR, 2018, para. 26). It went on to state:

Environmental degradation, climate change and unsustainable development constitute some of the most pressing and serious threats to the ability of present and future generations to enjoy the right to life. Obligations of States parties under international environmental law should thus inform the contents of article 6 of the Covenant, and the obligation of States parties to respect and ensure the right to life should also inform their relevant obligations under international environmental law. Implementation of the obligation to respect and ensure the right to life, and in particular life with dignity, depends, inter alia, on measures taken by States parties to preserve the environment and protect it against harm, pollution and

climate change caused by public and private actors. States parties should therefore ensure sustainable use of natural resources, develop and implement substantive environmental standards, conduct environmental impact assessments and consult with relevant States about activities likely to have a significant impact on the environment, provide notification to other States concerned about natural disasters and emergencies and cooperate with them, provide appropriate access to information on environmental hazards and pay due regard to the precautionary approach. (para. 62)

In August 2019, the Human Rights Committee (CCPR) held for the first time that a state had violated the right to life by failing to protect individuals from environmental harm – specifically citing the *Portillo Cáceres and others v. Paraguay* legal case wherein the fumigation of toxic chemicals on agricultural fields caused injury and death. The Committee held that the government had an obligation to investigate and sanction those responsible, provide full reparation to the victims, and take measures to prevent similar violations in the future (CCPR, 2019).

More environmental cases are pending before human rights treaty bodies, including two claims concerning climate change: a petition by Torres Strait Islanders against Australia before the Human Rights Committee, and a claim by Greta Thunberg and 15 other youth and children against Argentina, Brazil, France, Germany, and Turkey before the Committee on the Rights of the Child, which was the subject of oral argument in May 2021.

Many of the independent experts and Special Rapporteurs appointed by the Human Rights Council (HRC) and its predecessor, the Human Rights Commission, have addressed environmental issues within the scope of their mandates. In 1995, the Commission appointed a Special Rapporteur to investigate the effects on human rights of illicit dumping of toxic products in developing countries. That mandate has since expanded to include the management and disposal of hazardous substances and wastes more generally (see Tuncak, 2016). Other mandate-holders that have addressed environmental issues on behalf of the UN include: the Special Rapporteur on the rights of Indigenous Peoples (see Anaya, 2011); the Special Rapporteur on human rights defenders (see Forst, 2016); the Special Rapporteur on the right to food (see Elver, 2017); the Special Rapporteur on extreme poverty and human rights (see Alston, 2019); and the Special Rapporteur in the field of cultural rights (see Bennoune, 2020).

In 2012, the Council created a new mandate for an independent expert to study the human rights obligations relating to the enjoyment of a safe, clean, healthy, and sustainable environment. The first mandate-holder, John H. Knox, described how human rights bodies have applied human rights norms to environmental issues (see Knox, 2013). In 2015, the Council renewed the mandate for another three-year term, changed the title of the mandate-holder to Special Rapporteur, and requested that he promote the realization of the obligations. To that end, in 2018 he prepared the *Framework Principles on Human Rights and the Environment* that are described in more detail below. Also in 2018, the Council renewed the mandate for another three years, appointing David R. Boyd as the Special Rapporteur. Boyd has issued a series of reports describing how human rights law, and especially the right to a healthy environment, applies to particular substantive areas, including air pollution, climate change, and biodiversity (see Boyd, 2019b, 2019c, 2020, 2021). He has also published a report describing good practices in the implementation of the right to a healthy environment (see Boyd, 2019a).

#### 2.4. The Framework Principles on Human Rights and the Environment

The Framework Principles on Human Rights and the Environment presented to the UN Human Rights Council in 2018 by the Special Rapporteur on human rights and the environment, John Knox, set out obligations of states under international human rights law because they relate to the enjoyment of a safe, clean, healthy and sustainable environment (Knox, 2018a).¹ The 16 Framework Principles are based primarily on international instruments and decisions by international institutions. The goal was to clarify and facilitate implementation of the universal human rights obligations of states relating to the enjoyment of a safe, clean, healthy and sustainable environment, in accordance with the mandate given to the Special Rapporteur by the HRC in the resolutions creating and renewing the mandate.

While many of the obligations described in the Framework Principles and commentary are based directly on treaties or binding decisions from human rights tribunals, others draw on statements of human rights bodies that have the authority to interpret human rights law but not necessarily to issue binding decisions. The coherence of these interpretations, however, is strong evidence of the converging trends towards greater uniformity and certainty in the understanding of human rights obligations relating to the environment. These trends are further supported by state practice, including in international environmental instruments and before human rights bodies. As a result, as the Special Rapporteur made clear when he presented the Framework Principles to the Council, they reflect actual and emerging international human rights law.

Like other international human rights norms, they apply to all levels of government authorities, from branches and agencies of the national government to local or municipal agencies. This is important, because in many countries, local governments bear much of the day-to-day responsibility for the implementation of environmental regulations and standards, as well as responsibility to manage natural resources and license their use. The Framework Principles provide a sturdy basis for understanding and implementing human rights obligations relating to the environment, but they do not purport to describe all of the human rights obligations that can be brought to bear on environmental issues today, much less attempt to predict those that may evolve in the future. They describe the main human rights obligations that currently apply in the environmental context in order to facilitate their practical implementation and further development.

#### Framework Principles 1 and 2:

States should ensure a safe, clean, healthy and sustainable environment in order to respect, protect and fulfil human rights, and States should respect, protect and fulfil human rights in order to ensure a safe, clean, healthy and sustainable environment.

The first two Framework Principles set out the interdependent relationship of human rights and environmental protection. A safe, clean, healthy and sustainable environment is necessary for the full enjoyment of many human rights, including the right to life, to the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health, to an adequate standard of living, and to participation in cultural life and to development, as well as the overarching right to a healthy environment itself. At the same time, the exercise of human rights, including rights to freedom of expression

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The report and a list of selected sources for the Framework Principles is available at www.ohchr.org/EN/Issues/Environment/SREnvironment/Pageos/FrameworkPrinciplesReport.aspx

and association, to education and information, and to participation and effective remedies, is vital to the protection of the environment.

#### Framework Principle 3:

States should prohibit discrimination and ensure equal and effective protection against discrimination in relation to the enjoyment of a safe, clean, healthy and sustainable environment.

The obligations of states to prohibit discrimination and to ensure equal and effective protection against discrimination<sup>2</sup> apply to the equal enjoyment of human rights relating to a safe, clean, healthy and sustainable environment – as provided for in Articles 2(1) and 16 of the ICCPR; Article 2(2) of the *International Covenant for Economic Social and Cultural Rights (ICESCR) of 1966*; Articles 2 and 5 of the *International Convention on the Elimination of all forms of Racial Discrimination (ICERD) of 1965*; Article 2 of the *Convention on Elimination on All Forms of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW) of 1979*; Article 2 of the *Convention on the Rights of the Child (CRC) of 1989*; and Article 5 of the *Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (CRPD) of 2007*. States therefore have obligations to protect against environmental harm that results from or contributes to discrimination, to provide for equal access to environmental benefits and to ensure that their actions relating to the environment do not themselves discriminate.

Discrimination may be direct, "when someone is treated less favorably than another person in a similar situation for a reason related to a prohibited ground," or indirect, when facially neutral laws, policies or practices have a disproportionate impact on the exercise of human rights as distinguished by prohibited grounds of discrimination (GC 20, CESCR, 2009, para. 7). In the environmental context, direct discrimination may include, for example, failing to ensure that members of disfavoured groups have the same access as others, to information about environmental matters, to participation in environmental decision-making, or to remedies for environmental harm. According to Article 3(9) of the Aarhus Convention, in the case of transboundary environmental harm, states should provide for equal access to information, participation and remedies without discriminating on the basis of nationality or domicile.

Indirect discrimination may arise, for example, when measures that adversely affect ecosystems, such as mining and logging concessions, have disproportionately severe effects on communities that rely on the ecosystems. Indirect discrimination can also include measures such as authorizing toxic and hazardous facilities in large numbers in communities that are predominantly composed of racial or other minorities, thereby disproportionately interfering with their rights, including their rights to life, health, food and water. Like directly discriminatory measures, such indirect differential treatment is prohibited unless it meets strict requirements of legitimacy, necessity, and proportionality (GC 20, CESCR, 2009, para. 13).

More generally, to address indirect as well as direct discrimination, states must pay attention to historical or persistent prejudice against groups of individuals, recognize that environmental harm can both result from and reinforce existing patterns of discrimination, and take effective measures against the underlying conditions that cause or help to perpetuate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The term "discrimination" as used in the Covenant should be understood to imply "any distinction, exclusion, restriction or preference which is based on any ground such as race, colour, sex, language, religion, political or other opinion, national or social origin, property, birth or other status, and which has the purpose or effect of nullifying or impairing the recognition, enjoyment or exercise by all persons, on an equal footing, of all rights and freedoms." (GC 18, CCPR, 1989, para. 7).

discrimination (GC 20, CESCR, 2009, para. 8). In addition to complying with their obligations of non-discrimination, states should take additional measures to protect those who are most vulnerable to, or at particular risk from, environmental harm.

#### Framework Principle 4:

States should provide a safe and enabling environment in which individuals, groups and organs of society that work on human rights or environmental issues can operate free from threats, harassment, intimidation and violence.

Human rights defenders include individuals and groups who strive to protect and promote human rights relating to the environment. Those who work to protect the environment on which the enjoyment of human rights depends are protecting and promoting human rights as well, whether or not they self-identify as human rights defenders. They are among the human rights defenders most at risk, and the risks are particularly acute for indigenous peoples and traditional communities that depend on the natural environment for their subsistence and culture (Knox, 2017a)

Like other human rights defenders, environmental human rights defenders are entitled to all of the rights and protections set out in the Declaration on the Right and Responsibility of Individuals, Groups and Organs of Society to Promote and Protect Universally Recognized Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms (Declaration on Human Rights Defenders), including the right to be protected in their work and the right to strive for the protection and realization of human rights at the national and international levels. To that end, states must provide a safe and enabling environment for defenders to operate free from threats, harassment, intimidation, and violence. The requirements for such an environment include that states: adopt and implement laws that protect human rights defenders in accordance with international human rights standards; publicly recognize the contributions of human rights defenders to society and ensure that their work is not criminalized or stigmatized; develop, in consultation with human rights defenders, effective programmes for protection and early warning; provide appropriate training for security and law enforcement officials; ensure the prompt and impartial investigation of threats and violations and the prosecution of alleged perpetrators; and provide for effective remedies for violations, including appropriate compensation (Forst, 2016; Sekaggya, 2011, 2013; Kawas-Fernández v. Honduras, para. 148; and Article 9 of the Escazú Agreement).

#### Framework Principle 5:

States should respect and protect the rights to freedom of expression, association and peaceful assembly in relation to environmental matters.

The obligations of states to respect and protect the rights to freedom of expression, association and peaceful assembly encompass the exercise of those rights in relation to environmental matters. States must ensure that these rights are protected whether they are being exercised within structured decision-making procedures or in other forums, such as the news or social media, and whether or not they are being exercised in opposition to policies or projects favoured by the state.

#### Framework Principle 6:

States should provide for education and public awareness on environmental matters.

States have agreed that the education of the child shall be directed to, among other things, the development of respect for human rights and the natural environment (Article 29 of the CRC). Environmental education should begin early and continue throughout the educational process. It should increase students' understanding of the close relationship between humans and nature, help them to appreciate and enjoy the natural world and strengthen their capacity to respond to environmental challenges.

Increasing the public awareness of environmental matters should continue into adulthood. To ensure that adults as well as children understand environmental effects on their health and well-being, states should make the public aware of the specific environmental risks that affect them and how they may protect themselves from those risks. As part of increasing public awareness, states should build the capacity of the public to understand environmental challenges and policies, so that they may fully exercise their rights to express their views on environmental issues, understand environmental information, including assessments of environmental impacts, participate in decision-making, and where appropriate, seek remedies for violations of their rights. States should tailor environmental education and public awareness programmes to the culture, language and environmental situation of particular populations.

#### Framework Principle 7:

States should provide public access to environmental information by collecting and disseminating information and by providing affordable, effective and timely access to information to any person upon request.

The human right of all persons to seek, receive and impart information are provided for in Article 19 of the UDHR and Article 19 of the ICCPR, and they include information on environmental matters (see also *Claude-Reyes et al. v Chile*, 2006, para. 76). Public access to environmental information enables individuals to understand how environmental harm may undermine their rights, including the rights to life and health, contributes to the impact assessments described in the following Framework Principle 8, and supports the exercise of other rights, including the rights to expression, association, participation and remedy, as well as the overarching right to a healthy environment.

Access to environmental information has two dimensions. First, states should regularly collect, update and disseminate environmental information, including information about: the quality of the environment, including air and water; pollution, waste, chemicals and other potentially harmful substances introduced into the environment; threatened and actual environmental impacts on human health and well-being; and relevant laws and policies (Guidelines 2, 4 and 5 of the Bali Guidelines; Article 5 of the Aarhus Convention; and Article 6 of the Escazú Agreement). In particular, in situations involving imminent threat of harm to human health or the environment, states must ensure that all information that would enable the public to take protective measures is disseminated immediately to all affected persons, regardless of whether the threats have natural or human causes as noted in Guideline 6 of the Bali Guidelines.

Second, states should provide affordable, effective and timely access to environmental information held by public authorities, upon the request of any person or association, without the need to show a legal or other interest (Article 4 of the Aarhus Convention; and Article 5 of the Escazú Agreement). Grounds for refusal of a request should be set out clearly and construed

narrowly, in light of the public interest in favour of disclosure. According to the Bali Guidelines, states should also provide guidance to the public on how to obtain environmental information (Guidelines 1–3).

#### Framework Principle 8:

To avoid undertaking or authorizing actions with environmental impacts that interfere with the full enjoyment of human rights, States should require the prior assessment of the possible environmental impacts of proposed projects and policies, including their potential effects on the enjoyment of human rights.

Prior assessment of the possible environmental impacts of proposed projects and policies is called for by international environmental instruments as well as mandated by national laws, for e.g. Principle 17 of the Rio Declaration and Article 14 of the CBD. Human rights bodies have also made clear that prior environmental assessment is required to ensure that proposed actions do not cause environmental harm that violates human rights (GC 15, CESCR, 2002, para. 28; GC 36, CCPR, 2018, para. 62; Social and Economic Rights Action Center v. Nigeria, para. 53; Giacomelli v. Italy, para. 94; and Community of San Mateo Huanchor v. Peru, para. 12).

The key elements of effective environmental assessment are widely understood: the assessment should be undertaken as early as possible in the decision-making process for any proposal that is likely to have significant effects on the environment; the assessment should provide meaningful opportunities for the public to participate, should consider alternatives to the proposal, and should address all potential environmental impacts, including transboundary effects and cumulative effects that may occur as a result of the interaction of the proposal with other activities; the assessment should result in a written report that clearly describes the impacts; and the assessment and the final decision should be subject to review by an independent body. The procedure should also provide for monitoring of the proposal as implemented, to assess its actual impacts and the effectiveness of protective measures (UNEP, 2004).

To protect against interference with the full enjoyment of human rights, the assessment of environmental impacts should also examine the possible effects of the environmental impacts of proposed projects and policies on the enjoyment of all relevant rights, including the rights to life, health, food, water, housing and culture. The assessment procedure itself must comply with human rights obligations, including by providing public information about the assessment and making the assessment and the final decision publicly available, facilitating public participation by those who may be affected by the proposed action, and providing for effective legal remedies.

Business enterprises should conduct human rights impact assessments in accordance with the *United Nations Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights (2011)*, which provide that businesses "should identify and assess any actual or potential adverse human rights impacts with which they may be involved either through their own activities or as a result of their business relationships", include "meaningful consultation with potentially affected groups and other relevant stakeholders" (Principle 18), "integrate the findings from their impact assessments across relevant internal functions and processes, and take appropriate action" (Principle 19).

#### Framework Principle 9:

States should provide for and facilitate public participation in decision-making related to the environment, and take the views of the public into account in the decision-making process.

The right of everyone to take part in the government of their country and in the conduct of public affairs (Article 21 of the UDHR; and Article 25 of the ICCPR), includes participation in decision-making related to the environment. Such decision-making includes the development of policies, laws, regulations, projects and activities. Ensuring that these environmental decisions take into account the views of those who are affected by them increases public support, enables deliberative governance and legitimacy of decision-making processes, promotes sustainable development, and helps to protect the enjoyment of rights that depend on a safe, clean, healthy and sustainable environment (see GC 15, CESCR, 2002, paras. 48 and 56; GC 23, CCPR, 1994, para. 7; and *Guerra and Othes v. Italy*, para. 60). Many international environmental instruments recognize the importance of public participation in environmental decision-making, for e.g. Principle 10 of the Rio Declaration; Article 10(1)(d) of the Stockholm Convention; Article 14(1)(a) of the CBD; Article 3(a) of the UNCCD; and Article 6(a) of the UNFCCC. Again, Articles 1 and 6–8 of the Aarhus Convention, and Articles 1 and 7 of the Escazú Agreement, have detailed requirements which tie directly to the human right to a healthy environment.

According to the Bali Guidelines, to be effective, public participation must be open to all members of the public who may be affected and occur early in the decision-making process. States must provide members of the public with an adequate opportunity to express their views and take additional steps to facilitate the participation of women and of members of marginalized communities. States must ensure that the relevant authorities take into account the expressed views of the public in making their final decisions, that they explain the justifications for the decisions and that the decisions and explanations are made public (Guideline 11).

#### Framework Principle 10:

States should provide for access to effective remedies for violations of human rights and domestic laws relating to the environment.

The obligations of states to provide for access to judicial and other procedures for effective remedies for violations of human rights (Article 8 of the UDHR; Article 2(3) of the ICCPR; and Principle 10 of the Rio Declaration), encompass remedies for violations of human rights relating to the environment (GC 12, CESCR, 1999, para. 32; GC 15, CESCR, 2002, para. 55; Portillo Cáceres and Others v. Paraguay; and Socio-Economic Rights and Accountability Project (SERAP) v. Nigeria). In addition, in connection with the obligations to establish, maintain and enforce substantive environmental standards, as stated in the Framework Principles 11 and 12), each state should ensure that individuals have access to effective remedies against private actors, as well as government authorities, for failures to comply with the laws of the state relating to the environment (Guideline 17 of the Bali Guidelines).

To provide for effective remedies, states should ensure that individuals have access to judicial and administrative procedures that meet basic requirements, including that the procedures: (a) are impartial, independent, affordable, transparent and fair; (b) review claims in a timely manner; (c) have the necessary expertise and resources; (d) incorporate a right of appeal to a higher body; and (e) issue binding decisions, including for interim measures, compensation,

restitution and reparation, as necessary to provide effective remedies for violations. The procedures should be available for claims of imminent and foreseeable as well as past and current violations. States should ensure that decisions are made public and that they are promptly and effectively enforced.

States should provide guidance to the public about how to seek access to these procedures and should help to overcome obstacles to access such as language, illiteracy, expense and distance, as well as technological barriers (e.g. with respect to information and procedures that are available online). Standing should be construed broadly, and states should recognize the standing of Indigenous Peoples and other communal landowners to bring claims for violations of their collective rights. All those pursuing remedies must be protected against reprisals, including threats and violence. States should protect against baseless lawsuits aimed at intimidating victims and discouraging them from pursuing remedies.

#### **Framework Principle 11:**

States should establish and maintain substantive environmental standards that are non-discriminatory, non-retrogressive and otherwise respect, protect and fulfil human rights.

To protect against environmental harm and to take necessary measures for the full realization of human rights that depend on the environment, states must establish, maintain and enforce effective legal and institutional frameworks for the enjoyment of a safe, clean, healthy and sustainable environment (see Rio Declaration, 1992, Principle 11; GC 36, CCPR, 2018, paras. 7, 26, 62; GC 15, CESCR, 2002, paras. 8 and 19; GC 16, Committee on the Rights of the Child, 2013a, paras. 29 and 49; Portillo Cáceres and Others v. Paraguay, para. 7.3; Social and Economic Rights Action Centre v. Nigeria; Öneryildiz v. Turkey). Such frameworks should include substantive environmental standards, including with respect to air quality, the global climate, freshwater quality, marine pollution, waste, toxic substances, protected areas, conservation and biological diversity.

Ideally, environmental standards would be set and implemented at levels that would prevent all environmental harm from human sources and ensure a safe, clean, healthy and sustainable environment. However, limited resources may prevent the immediate realization of the rights to health, food, water and other economic, social and cultural rights. The obligation of states to achieve progressively the full realization of these rights by all appropriate means, as provided in Article 2(1) of the ICCPR, requires states to take deliberate, concrete and targeted measures towards that goal, but states have some discretion in deciding which means are appropriate in light of available resources (GC 3, CESCR, 1990). Similarly, human rights bodies applying civil and political rights, such as the rights to life and to private and family life, have held that states have some discretion to determine appropriate levels of environmental protection, taking into account the need to balance the goal of preventing all environmental harm with other social goals (see Hatton and Others v. United Kingdom, 2003, para. 98). Over time, environmental protection is not in conflict with economic development, because sustainable development is possible only with strong environmental protection. Nevertheless, states still have discretion as to how to best allocate scarce resources in particular instances while they strive for the full realization of all human rights. As an example, in Principle 11 of the Rio Declaration it states:

Environmental standards, management objectives and priorities should reflect the environmental and developmental context to which they apply. Standards applied by some countries may be inappropriate and of unwarranted economic and social cost to other countries, in particular developing countries.

This discretion is not unlimited. One constraint is that decisions as to the establishment and implementation of appropriate levels of environmental protection must always comply with obligations of non-discrimination. Another constraint is the strong presumption against retrogressive measures in relation to the progressive realization of economic, social and cultural rights (GC 3, CESCR, 1990, para. 9). Other factors that should be taken into account in assessing whether environmental standards otherwise respect, promote and fulfil human rights include the following:

- The standards should result from a procedure that itself complies with human rights obligations, including those relating to the rights of freedom of expression, freedom of association and peaceful assembly, information, participation and remedy, in accordance with Framework Principles 4–10.
- The standards should take into account, and to the extent possible, be consistent with all relevant international environmental, health and safety standards, such as those promulgated by the World Health Organization (WHO).
- The standards should take into account the best available science. However,
  the lack of full scientific certainty should not be used to justify postponing
  effective and proportionate measures to prevent environmental harm,
  especially when there are threats of serious or irreversible damage
  (Principle 15 of the Rio Declaration). States should take precautionary
  measures to protect against such harm.
- The standards must comply with any applicable specific human rights obligations. For example, in all actions concerning children, the best interests of the child must be a primary consideration (Article 3(1) of the CRC).
- Finally, the standards must not strike an unjustifiable or unreasonable balance between environmental protection and other social goals in light of their effects on the full enjoyment of human rights.<sup>3</sup>

#### Framework Principle 12:

States should ensure the effective enforcement of their environmental standards against public and private actors.

Governmental authorities must comply with the relevant environmental standards in their own operations, and they must also monitor and effectively enforce compliance with the standards by preventing, investigating, punishing, and redressing violations of the standards by private actors as well as governmental authorities. In particular, states must regulate business enterprises to protect against human rights abuses resulting from environmental harm and to provide for remedies for such abuses (Principles 1 and 25 of the United Nations Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights; GC 16, Committee on the Rights of the Child, 2013a, para. 61; GC 15, CESCR, 2011, para. 1). States should implement training programmes for law enforcement and judicial officers to enable them to understand and enforce environmental

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> For example, a decision to allow massive oil pollution in the pursuit of economic development could not be considered reasonable in light of its disastrous effects on the enjoyment of the rights to life, health, food and water in *Social and Economic Rights Action Centre v. Nigeria*, 2002).

laws, and they should take effective steps to prevent corruption from undermining the implementation and enforcement of environmental laws.

In accordance with the *United Nations Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights*, the responsibility of business enterprises to respect human rights includes the responsibility to avoid causing or contributing to adverse human rights impacts through environmental harm, to address such impacts when they occur and to seek to prevent or mitigate adverse human rights impacts that are directly linked to their operations, products or services by their business relationships (Principles 11 and 13). Businesses should comply with all applicable environmental laws, issue clear policy commitments to meet their responsibility to respect human rights through environmental protection, implement human rights due diligence processes (including human rights impact assessments) to identify, prevent, mitigate and account for how they address their environmental impacts on human rights, and enable the remediation of any adverse environmental human rights impacts they cause or to which they contribute (Principles 15–24).

#### Framework Principle 13:

States should cooperate with each other to establish, maintain and enforce effective international legal frameworks in order to prevent, reduce and remedy transboundary and global environmental harm that interferes with the full enjoyment of human rights.

The obligations of states to cooperate to achieve universal respect for, and observance of, human rights require them to work together to address transboundary and global threats to human rights (see Articles 55–56 of the UN Charter; and Article 2(1) of the ICCPR). Moreover, every state has obligations in relation to actions within its own territory or control that cause transboundary environmental harm to human rights (IACtHR, 2017). Transboundary and global environmental harm can have severe effects on the full enjoyment of human rights, and international cooperation is necessary to address such harm.

The obligation of international cooperation does not require every state to take exactly the same actions. The responsibilities that are necessary and appropriate for each state will depend in part on its situation, and agreements between states to address global problems, such as climate change, may appropriately tailor their individual commitments to take account of their respective capabilities and challenges (see Boyd, 2019c; Knox, 2016, paras. 46–48; *Netherlands v. Urgenda*, paras. 6.2–6.5). Once their obligations have been defined, however, states must comply with them in good faith.

#### Framework Principle 14:

States should take additional measures to protect the rights of those who are most vulnerable to, or at particular risk from, environmental harm, taking into account their needs, risks and capacities.

As the Human Rights Council has recognized in their resolution on *Human Rights and the Environment (Res/34/20) of 2017*, "while the human rights implications of environmental damage are felt by individuals and communities around the world, the consequences are felt most acutely by those segments of the population that are already in vulnerable situations" (Preamble, para. 13).<sup>4</sup> Persons may be vulnerable because they are unusually susceptible to certain types of environmental harm, or because they are denied their human rights, or both.

<sup>4</sup> Many human rights instruments set out specific obligations relevant to those whose rights are often denied or who are otherwise in vulnerable situations, for e.g. Article 27 of the ICCPR (1966); ICERD, (1965); CEDAW (1979); CRC (1989); CRPD (2007); and UNDRIP (2007).

Those who are at greater risk from environmental harm for either or both reasons often include women, children, persons living in poverty, members of Indigenous Peoples and traditional communities, older persons, persons with disabilities, ethnic, racial or other minorities and displaced persons.<sup>5</sup>

To protect the rights of those who are particularly vulnerable to or at risk from environmental harm, states should ensure that their laws and policies take into account the ways that some parts of the population are more susceptible to environmental harm, and the barriers some face to exercising their human rights related to the environment.

For example, states should develop disaggregated data on the specific effects of environmental harm on different segments of the population, conducting additional research as necessary, to provide a basis for ensuring that their laws and policies adequately protect against such harm. States should take effective measures to raise the awareness of environmental threats among those persons who are most at risk. In monitoring and reporting on environmental issues, states should provide detailed information on the threats to, and status of, the most vulnerable. Assessments of the environmental and human rights impacts of proposed projects and policies must include a careful examination of the impacts on the most vulnerable, in particular.

Domestic and international environmental standards should be set at levels that protect against harm to vulnerable segments of the population, and states should use appropriate indicators and benchmarks to assess implementation. When measures to safeguard against or mitigate adverse impacts are impossible or ineffective, states must facilitate access to effective remedies for violations and abuses of the rights of those most vulnerable to environmental harm.

#### **Framework Principle 15:**

States should ensure that they comply with their obligations to Indigenous Peoples and members of traditional communities.

Specific obligations include: (a) recognizing and protecting their rights to the lands, territories and resources that they have traditionally owned, occupied or used; (b) consulting with them and obtaining their free, prior and informed consent before relocating them or taking or approving any other measures that may affect their lands, territories or resources; (c) respecting and protecting their traditional knowledge and practices in relation to the conservation and sustainable use of their lands, territories and resources; and (d) ensuring that they fairly and equitably share the benefits from activities relating to their lands, territories or resources.

#### Framework Principle 16:

States should respect, protect and fulfil human rights in the actions they take to address environmental challenges and pursue sustainable development.

The obligations of states to respect, protect and fulfil human rights apply when states are adopting and implementing measures to address environmental challenges and to pursue sustainable development. That a state is attempting to prevent, reduce or remedy environmental harm, seeking to achieve one or more of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), or taking actions in response to climate change does not excuse it from complying with its human rights obligations. These obligations apply to the measures through which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Many persons are vulnerable or subject to discrimination along more than one dimension, such as disabled children and Indigenous women.

environmental protection is achieved as well as to the decisions about which levels of environmental protection to pursue. As provided in the Paris Agreement, when taking actions in response to climate change, such as pursuing adaptation measures or renewable energy projects, states must comply with their human rights obligations (Preamble, para. 11).

#### 2.5. Relevance for national legislation on natural resources

Those involved in designing or revising legal frameworks for agricultural development and the management of renewable natural resources, ranging from land, water, fisheries, plants and animals to food, forestry, wildlife, biodiversity and trade laws should pay close attention to the *United Nations Framework Principles on Human Rights and the Environment*. This is also the case for those providing advice on regulatory aspects related to climate change, gender equality, agribusiness operations, the right to food, the right to water and the prevention of potential conflicts arising from the competition for natural resources. In all these activities, legal advice can rely systematically on the Framework Principles with a view to:

- Ensuring that legislation on natural resources is non-discriminatory and non-retrogressive, taking into account the internationally protected human rights that may depend on the sustainable use and conservation of particular natural resources and relevant international environmental obligations.
- Integrating consideration of Indigenous Peoples' rights, women's rights, children's best interests, and the rights of environmental human rights defenders in the governance of natural resources.
- Establishing clear duties for public authorities to plan, regulate and monitor private actors' activities in the natural resource-related sectors that may have negative impacts on the environment and on human rights in ways that enhance access to justice.
- Creating clear obligations for private actors to consider relevant human rights in their proposals and activities in the natural resource sector.
- Generally clarifying which international environmental obligations and standards require to be enshrined in national law (as opposed to policy or administrative instruments), to ensure respect and protection of human rights, including with a view to enhancing access to justice and effective remedies.

In addition, legal advice on national legislation on natural resources can rely on the synergies (and potential for policy coherence) between human rights and the ecosystem approach, which can be considered as the landmark regulatory strategy for the *United Nations Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD)* and other biodiversity-related conventions (Morgera, 2017).

The ecosystem approach concerns *integration*: it is aimed at integrating the management of land, water and living resources, as well as balancing the three objectives of the Convention – conservation, sustainable use, together with access and benefit-sharing (*CBD COP Decision V/6*). Hence, this approach fundamentally challenges the long-embedded sectoral and fragmented

approach to environmental law-making and implementation at national and international levels, and through that can support the consideration of human rights across different government sectors that may not typically engage with these matters.

- The ecosystem approach aims to integrate modern science and the traditional knowledge of Indigenous Peoples and local communities in adaptive management, which provides an opportunity to engage with the human rights of these groups (as discussed below).
- Another key dimension of this approach is its emphasis on equity, recognizing that human beings and their cultural diversity are an integral component of many ecosystems. From this perspective, the ecosystem approach entails a decentralized, social process. It underscores the need for understanding and factoring in societal choices, rights and interests of Indigenous Peoples and local communities, along with intrinsic as well as tangible and intangible values attached to biodiversity, ultimately leading to a balance between local interests and the wider public interest. It also points to the challenge of ensuring appropriate representation of community interests in the decision-making process. This is expected to enhance the responsibility, ownership, accountability and participation of different stakeholders in achieving the Convention's objectives and facilitating the use of local knowledge. From a normative perspective, the ecosystem approach should thus be understood as a consensus-building process, which requires good-faith efforts and a considerable investment of time and resources (CBD COP Decision VII/11). This provides an entry point for the integration of procedural human rights into natural resource legislation. And in effect CBD Parties already agreed that ensuring equity in protected areas' governance, for instance entails appropriate mechanisms for the full and effective participation of Indigenous Peoples and local communities; to transparency and accountability; and fair dispute or conflict resolution (CBD COP Decision XIV/8, Annex II).
- Equity also provides an entry point for the consideration of substantive human rights in decision-making and management. For instance, CBD Parties already agreed that ensuring equity in protected areas' governance entails appropriate mechanisms for ensuring gender equality in the establishment, governance, planning, monitoring and reporting of protected and conserved areas on their traditional territories (lands and waters), and the recognition of customary tenure and governance systems of Indigenous Peoples and local communities (CBD COP Decision XIV/8, Annex II).
- Furthermore, as our knowledge of ecosystem functioning is incomplete, the ecosystem approach is tightly linked with precaution: it is predicated on the application of appropriate scientific methodologies and on the adoption of adaptive management to deal with the complex and dynamic nature of ecosystems. It also calls for a prudent approach in respecting the limits of ecosystem functioning (CBD COP Decision V/6, paras. 2, 4 and 6), thereby calling for a cautious approach to natural resource management based on continuous learning of the environment's vulnerability, the

limitations of science, the availability of alternatives and the need for long-term, holistic environmental considerations (Burns, 2007), which is also relevant to understand "foreseeable" human rights impacts that national authorities should avoid (Knox, 2017b).

International and national legal experts involved in conducting and promoting research on legislative developments in the food and agriculture sector and in renewable natural resource management, including comparative studies (e.g. FAO Legislative studies, Legal guides, Legal papers, and Legal briefs),<sup>6</sup> have an opportunity to raise awareness among, and build the capacity of, national law-makers and other authorities and experts usually involved in the review and reform of national legislation on natural resources to integrate the Framework Principles into their work, as well as to highlight legislative trends that already support these Principles.

Finally, international and national legal experts supporting the development of international treaties and other norm-setting instruments on natural resources, should, in accordance with Framework Principle 16, support states in respecting, protecting and fulfilling human rights in the actions they take to address environmental challenges and pursue sustainable development. This Principle should also be upheld during international standard-setting activities like those of the Codex Alimentarius Commission<sup>7</sup> and the Commission on Phytosanitary Measures (CPM)<sup>8</sup> as well as during negotiations with donors and for the delivery of programmes and fostering partnerships towards the realization of the SDGs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See FAO Legal Library at https://www.fao.org/legal-services/library/library/en/

 $<sup>^{7} \ \</sup> For information on Codex \ A limentarius \ and \ the \ Commission \ see \ www.fao.org/fao-who-codex \ a limentarius/en$ 

 $<sup>^{8}\,</sup>$  For information on the International Plant Protection Convention and the Commission see www.ippc.int/en

## 3. Conservation of nature and the rights of Indigenous Peoples and other rural rights holders

The importance of a healthy environment for the enjoyment of human rights has become widely recognized, as explained in the previous section. However, the relationship between human rights and the conservation of natural ecosystems and biological diversity may be less well understood. In two reports on biodiversity and human rights, the previous and current Special Rapporteurs on human rights and the environment have outlined the relationship between the two areas, with a particular emphasis on the rights of Indigenous Peoples and other rural rights holders (Knox, 2017b; Boyd, 2020). This section draws on those reports, and also addresses the *Voluntary Guidelines on the responsible governance of tenure of land, fisheries and forests in the context of national food security (VGGT)*.

## 3.1. General considerations with respect to biodiversity and human rights

#### 3.1.1. The dependence of human rights on biodiversity

The full enjoyment of human rights, including the rights to life, health, food and water, depends on the services provided by ecosystems. The provision of ecosystem services depends on the health and sustainability of ecosystems, which in turn depend on biodiversity. The full enjoyment of human rights thus depends on biodiversity, and the degradation and loss of biodiversity undermine the ability of human beings to enjoy their human rights.

Ecosystem services include provisioning services such as food, water, timber and fibre, which are necessary for basic material needs, including nutrition, shelter and clothing. Regulating services such as purification of water and protection against erosion support clean water and human health. Ecosystems also provide vital cultural services to the many people around the world whose religious and spiritual values are rooted in nature (Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005). Human economic and social development depends on the use of ecosystems, but this development cannot overexploit natural ecosystems and destroy the services on which we depend. Development must be sustainable, and sustainable development requires healthy ecosystems. In SDG 15, states have committed to "protect, restore and promote sustainable use of terrestrial ecosystems, sustainably manage forests, combat desertification, and halt and reverse land degradation and halt biodiversity loss."

Ecosystem services are of incalculable benefit. In the words of Special Rapporteur David R. Boyd's 2020 report to the General Assembly:

All human rights ultimately depend on a healthy biosphere. Without healthy, functioning ecosystems, which depend on healthy biodiversity, there would be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> In Boyd and Keene (2021), the term "Indigenous Peoples and other rural rights holders" refers to Indigenous Peoples, Afro-descendants, local communities, peasants, rural women, and rural youth.

no clean air to breathe, safe water to drink or nutritious food to eat (Boyd, 2020, paras. 3–4).

One of the most striking specific examples of human reliance on biodiversity is as a source of medicine. The oldest known natural mummy, found in the Italian Alps in 1991 after being frozen for more than 5 000 years, carried *Piptoporus betulinus*, a birch fungus that reduces inflammation. Famous recent examples include: *Cinchona officinalis*, a South American tree whose bark produces quinine, a treatment for malaria; *Catharanthus roseus*, the Madagascar rosy periwinkle, first used as a traditional medicine and then as the basis for successful treatments of childhood leukemia and Hodgkin's lymphoma; *Penicillium citrinum*, a fungus whose derivation reduces cholesterol synthesis; and *Digitalis purpurea*, the purple foxglove, used to treat heart disease. More than half of the 1 355 drugs approved by the United States Food and Drug Administration between 1981 and 2010 had natural origins. The debt to nature is particularly great with respect to antibiotics, which have saved millions of lives: 10 of the 14 major classes of antibiotics are derived from microorganisms.

Only a small fraction of the hundreds of thousands of plant species have been studied for their medicinal potential, and other living resources, including the marine and the microbial, remain almost completely unexamined. As many as 40 percent of the approximately 60 000 plant species thought to be used for medicinal purposes are endangered, including plants long important in traditional medicine such as the African cherry (*Prunus Africana*) and the Himalayan yew (*Taxus wallichianai*).

Other ways that biodiversity supports human health may be less widely recognized. For example, the development of normal immune responses, especially to allergens, requires exposure to diverse natural habitats. As biodiversity declines, it causes autoimmune diseases, allergic disorders and other non-communicable inflammatory diseases to become more prevalent in all parts of the world (Haahtela *et al.*, 2013). Moreover, for some zoonotic diseases, the loss of biodiversity has been linked to increased prevalence in humans. In his 2020 report, David R. Boyd stated that:

more than 70 percent of emerging infectious diseases in recent decades have been zoonoses, including HIV/AIDS, Ebola, severe acute respiratory syndrome, Middle East respiratory syndrome, avian influenza, Nipah virus, Marburg virus, Zika virus and West Nile virus (Boyd, 2020, para. 11).

More generally, it is increasingly clear that exposure to nature has beneficial effects on mental health. A comprehensive review of studies concluded that:

experiencing nature can have positive effects on mental/psychological health, healing, heart rate, concentration, levels of stress, blood pressure, behavior, and other health factors. For example, viewing nature, even through a window, improves recovery from surgery (Sandifer, Sutton-Grier and Ward, 2015, p. 3).

The benefits of biodiversity are particularly critical in relation to the right to food. Genetic diversity within species increases the yield of commercial crops, and species richness in freshwater fisheries is associated with greater productivity (Harrison *et al.*, 2014). Biodiversity is crucial to the stability and resilience of food sources. Increasing diversity of fish species is associated with greater stability of fisheries (Cardinale *et al.*, 2012), and "resiliency in agroecosystems to environmental change depends on the innate attributes of crop varieties, which makes preserving crop biodiversity [e.g. through seed banks] a vital part of food security" (Bernstein, 2014, p. 158).

Food security also depends on the biodiversity of the surrounding environment:

Successfully raising any single crop requires more than its seeds; a multitude of species are necessary, from microbes, insects, worms, and small vertebrates in the soil to a host of species above ground that control pests, fertilize soils, and pollinate flowers. Marked population declines have been observed in organisms vital to agriculture in recent years, and these losses bear directly on food security (Bernstein, 2014, p. 158).

For example, pollination is necessary for more than three quarters of the 107 leading global food crops, including many fruits and vegetables that are important sources of micronutrients and vitamins (IPBES, 2016, pp. 8 and 16; WHO and CBD Secretariat, 2015, p. 81). Biodiversity loss is also directly related to climate change, as described in more detail below.

#### 3.1.2. States' general obligations to protect biodiversity

States' obligations to protect the environment in order to protect the full enjoyment of human rights, as described in the previous section on the Framework Principles, apply to protection of natural ecosystems and biodiversity.

In his 2020 report, Special Rapporteur David R. Boyd stated that:

States have procedural obligations to:

- a. Provide the public with accessible, affordable and understandable information regarding the causes and consequences of the global nature emergency, including incorporating the importance of a healthy biosphere as a required element of the educational curriculum at all levels;
- Ensure an inclusive, equitable and gender-based approach to public participation in all actions related to the conservation, protection, restoration and sustainable use of nature, with a particular emphasis on empowering the most directly affected populations;
- Enable affordable and timely access to justice and effective remedies for all, to hold States and businesses accountable for fulfilling their obligations to conserve, protect and restore nature;
- d. Assess the potential environmental, social, cultural and human rights impacts of all plans, policies and proposals that could damage, destroy or diminish healthy ecosystems and biodiversity;
- Implement human rights safeguards in the design and use of biodiversity financing mechanisms (e.g. payments for ecosystem services and debt for nature swaps);
- f. Integrate gender equality into all actions to conserve, protect, restore, use and equitably share the benefits of nature, including the development and implementation of National Biodiversity Strategic Action Plans required under the Convention on Biological Diversity, empowering women to play leadership roles;

- g. Respect the rights of Indigenous Peoples and local communities and peasants in all actions to conserve, protect, restore, sustainably use and equitably share the benefits of healthy ecosystems and biodiversity, including respect for traditional knowledge, customary practices and Indigenous Peoples' right to free, prior and informed consent;
- h. Provide strong protection for environmental human rights defenders working on nature-related issues. States must vigilantly protect defenders from intimidation, criminalization and violence; diligently investigate, prosecute and punish the perpetrators of those crimes; and address the root causes of social-environmental conflict (Boyd, 2020, para. 69).

For example, before a state grants a concession for exploitation of a forest, authorizes a dam on a river or takes other steps that allow the degradation or loss of biodiversity, it should assess the environmental and social impacts of the proposal, provide information about its possible effects, facilitate informed public participation in the decision-making process, including by protecting the rights of freedom of expression and association, and provide access to effective legal remedies for those who claim that their rights have been violated. The state should also safeguard the rights of Indigenous Peoples, as described below in further detail.

States have developed some exemplary practices in relation to procedural obligations. At the international level, a particularly important development in relation to the duty to provide information was the creation in 2012 of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (IPBES). The IPBES has issued high-quality, peer-reviewed reports, including a comprehensive global assessment of the state of nature in 2019.

However, there are also many failures to meet procedural obligations in relation to biodiversity. Perhaps the most egregious problem is the failure to protect environmental human rights defenders (Forst, 2016).<sup>10</sup> In recent years, the human rights organization Global Witness has issued an annual report on the number of environmental and land defenders killed because of their work. Its most recent report, in 2020, stated that 212 defenders were murdered in 2019 (Global Witness, 2020). Many others are harassed and subjected to violence. As pressures to exploit natural resources grow, those who oppose unsustainable exploitation are increasingly under attack. Sometimes, government actors themselves commit or are complicit in the persecution. Even when they are not directly involved, governments often fail to respond to threats, investigate violations and arrest those responsible, thereby creating a culture of impunity that encourages further attacks. Moreover, states have adopted laws that criminalize peaceful protests and opposition, restrict or prohibit the operations of civil society organizations and enable civil suits that seek to intimidate and silence environmental defenders.

Substantively, states are collctively failing to meet their obligations to protect human rights from the loss of natural ecosystems. In his 2020 report to the United Nations General Assembly, Special Rapporteur David R. Boyd summarized some of the findings of the 2019 IPBES comprehensive assessment:

 Wildlife populations (including amphibians, birds, fish and mammals) have plummeted an average of 60 percent since 1970;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> A number of recent reports have called attention to the threats facing environmental human rights defenders, including a report by the Special Rapporteur on human rights defenders (see Forst, 2016).

- b. The rate of extinction is hundreds of times higher than the average over the past 10 million years and is accelerating, with 1 million species at risk;
- Nearly three quarters of the Earth's land surface has been altered significantly;
- d. Two thirds of the Earth's ocean realm is experiencing adverse impacts, including acidification, deoxygenation and a loss of sea ice;
- e. More than half of the world's accessible freshwater flows is appropriated for human use;
- f. More than 85 percent of the planet's wetlands has been destroyed;
- g. 420 million hectares of forest have been lost since 1990 through conversion to other land uses:
- h. The global biomass of large predatory fish targeted by fisheries has fallen by two thirds over the past hundred years (Boyd, 2020, para. 13).

Although states have adopted hundreds of laws and treaties designed to protect nature, including the CBD, there is an enormous gap between the protections called for in these laws and their actual implementation. In 2010, the parties to the CBD in *Decision X/2* adopted 20 conservation goals called the *Aichi Biodiversity Targets*, to be met by 2020. In 2020, the CBD Secretariat reported that none of the Aichi Targets had been fully met, and only six had been partially met (CBD Secretariat, 2020).

### For example, Aichi Target 5 stated:

By 2020, the rate of loss of all natural habitats, including forests, is at least halved and where feasible brought close to zero, and degradation and fragmentation is significantly reduced (p. 8).

The Secretariat reported that the rate of deforestation was only about one-third lower in 2010-2020 than in the previous decade. Loss, degradation and fragmentation of habitats remain high in forest and other biomes, and wilderness areas and global wetlands continue to decline (CBD Secretariat, 2020, p. 7).

### Aichi Target 12 stated:

By 2020 the extinction of known threatened species has been prevented and their conservation status, particularly of those most in decline, has been improved and sustained (Annex, p. 9).

# In its 2020 report, the CBD Secretariat stated that:

Species continue to move, on average, closer to extinction... Among well-assessed taxonomic groups, nearly one quarter (23.7%) of species are threatened with extinction unless the drivers of biodiversity loss are drastically reduced, with an estimated total of one million threatened species across all groups. Wild animal populations have fallen by more than two-thirds since 1970, and have continued to decline since 2010 (CBD Secretariat, 2020, p. 9).

#### In his 2020 report, David R. Boyd emphasized that:

States must not violate the right to a healthy environment or other human rights related to healthy ecosystems and biodiversity through their own actions; must protect those rights from being violated by third parties, in particular businesses; and must establish, implement and enforce laws, policies and programmes to fulfil these rights (Boyd, 2020, para. 70).

#### States also have obligations to:

...cooperate internationally to achieve a healthy biosphere, through sharing information, transferring clean technologies, building capacity, increasing research, honoring international commitments and ensuring just and sustainable outcomes for vulnerable and marginalized communities. Wealthy States must contribute their fair share towards the costs of conserving, protecting and restoring healthy ecosystems and biodiversity in low-income countries, in accordance with the principle of common but differentiated responsibilities (Boyd, 2020, para. 74).

# 3.2. Rights of Indigenous Peoples and rural communities in relation to conservation

Although the global failure to protect biodiversity ultimately affects everyone, it is already having catastrophic consequences for Indigenous Peoples and other rural communities who depend directly on ecosystems for their food, water, fuel and culture. This section describes some of their most important rights and states' corresponding obligations in the environmental context. Within these groups, there are also specific impacts on rural women and children; that are addressed in the following sub-sections.

The rights of Indigenous Peoples are recognized in international instruments, including the *United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples of 2007* and the *Indigenous and Tribal Peoples Convention of 1989 (ILO Convention 169)*, and they have been clarified by international and regional human rights bodies.

While there is no universal definition of Indigenous Peoples, the ILO Convention 169 provides a set of subjective and objective criteria, which are jointly applied to identify Indigenous Peoples in a given country. Given the diversity of the peoples it aims at protecting, the Convention uses the terminology of "indigenous and tribal" peoples in an inclusive manner, with a view to ascribing the same set of rights to both groups. In Latin America, for example, the term "tribal" has been applied to certain afro-descendant communities (ILO, 2013; Saramaka People v. Suriname). In some cases, where there has been a lack of clarity about the application of the subjective and objective criteria, the ILO Committee of Experts on the Application of Conventions and Recommendations (CEACR) has analysed the circumstances and provided comments to the country concerned (ILO, 2013). This can be the case of countries where Indigenous and tribal peoples are often known by national terms such as adivasis, mountain dwellers, hill tribes and hunter-gatherers.

Human rights bodies have emphasized that states should protect the special relationship of peoples and communities with the territory that they have traditionally occupied, especially when their subsistence and culture is closely linked to that territory. For example, the Inter-American Court of Human Rights has held in *Saramaka People v. Suriname (2007)* that states

have heightened obligations to protect the right to property, as recognized in the *American Convention on Human Rights of 1969* (Article 21), of Afro-descendant tribal communities. Because such communities have their own customs and a special relationship with their ancestral territories, the Court held that, like Indigenous Peoples, they "require special measures that guarantee the full exercise of their rights, particularly with regards to their enjoyment of property rights, in order to safeguard their physical and cultural survival" (para. 85).

Along with the ILO Convention 169 and the UNDRIP, other instruments guarantee the legal protection of Indigenous Peoples and other rural communities in environmental matters. In its provisions, the CBD also refers to "local communities" that hold traditional knowledge and engage in customary sustainable use of living resources (Articles 8(j) and 10(c)), while the Framework Principles also refer to "traditional communities" to point to the human rights of communities that do not self-identify as Indigenous but have close relationships to their ancestral territories and depend directly on nature for their material needs and cultural life. In addition, the *United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Peasants and Other People Working in Rural Areas of 2018 (UNDROP)* covers any person who "seeks to engage alone, or in association with others or as a community" in small-scale agricultural production, crop planting, livestock raising, pastoralism, fishing, forestry, hunting or gathering, and handicrafts related to agriculture or a "related occupation in a rural area...for subsistence or for the market". In addition, UNDROP sets out two parameters for understanding the concept of "peasants": (i) reliance on family labour or other non-monetized way of organizing labour; and (ii) special dependency on and attachment to the land (Article 1.1).

### Article 27 of the ICCPR provides that:

persons belonging to [ethnic, religious or linguistic] minorities shall not be denied the right, in community with the other members of their group, to enjoy their own culture, to profess and practice their own religion, or to use their own language.

The Human Rights Committee charged with monitoring the Covenant has stated that "culture manifests itself in many forms, including a particular way of life associated with the use of land resources, especially in the case of indigenous peoples", and that the enjoyment of rights to traditional activities, such as hunting and fishing, may require "positive legal measures of protection and measures to ensure the effective participation of members of minority communities in decisions which affect them" (GC 23, CCPR, 1994, para. 7). Whether measures that substantially interfere with the culturally significant economic activities of a minority community are acceptable depends on whether the members of the community were able to participate in the decision-making process that resulted in the measures and whether they will continue to benefit from their traditional economy. The Committee in their communication on *Poma Poma v. Peru* has stated that:

participation in the decision-making process must be effective, which requires not mere consultation but the free, prior and informed consent of the members of the community. In addition, the measures must respect the principle of proportionality so as not to endanger the very survival of the community and its members (paras. 7.3–7.6).

Among the obligations of states to Indigenous Peoples and local communities, four are particularly important in the environmental context.

First, as provided in Articles 14–15 of the ILO Convention 169, states must recognize and protect the rights of Indigenous Peoples and local communities to the lands, territories and resources that they have traditionally owned, occupied or used, including those to which they have had access for their subsistence and traditional activities, (see also Articles 26–27 of the UNDRIP). According to the Convention, the recognition of the rights must be conducted with due respect for the customs, traditions and land tenure systems of the peoples or communities concerned, as stated in (Article 26(3)). Even without formal recognition of property rights and delimitation and demarcation of boundaries, states must protect against actions that might affect the value, use or enjoyment of the lands, territories or resources, including by instituting adequate penalties against those who intrude on or use them without authorization (Article 18).

Second, states must ensure the full and effective participation of Indigenous Peoples and local communities in decision-making on the entire spectrum of matters that affect their lives. States have obligations to consult with them when considering legislative or administrative measures which may affect them directly, before undertaking or permitting any programmes for the exploration or exploitation of resources pertaining to their lands or territories and when considering their capacity to alienate their lands or territories or otherwise transfer their rights outside their own community (Articles 6, 15 and 17). States should assess the environmental and social impacts of proposed measures and ensure that all relevant information is provided to them in understandable and accessible forms. Consultations with Indigenous Peoples and local communities should be in accordance with their customs and traditions and occur early in the decision-making process.

The free, prior and informed consent of Indigenous Peoples and local communities is generally necessary before the adoption or implementation of any laws, policies or measures that may affect them, and in particular before the approval of any project affecting their lands, territories or resources, including the extraction or exploitation of mineral, water or other resources, or the storage or disposal of hazardous materials (Articles 19, 29(2) and 32 of the UNDRIP; *Poma Poma v. Peru*, paras. 7.3–7.6; and Articles 6–7 of the Nagoya Protocol). Relocation of Indigenous Peoples and local communities may take place only with their free, prior and informed consent and after agreement on just and fair compensation and, where possible, with the option of return (Article 16 of the ILO Convention 169; and Article 10 of the UNDRIP).

Third, states should respect and protect the knowledge and practices of Indigenous Peoples and local communities in relation to the conservation and sustainable use of their lands, territories and resources, as stated in Articles 8(j) and 10(c) of the CBD. Indigenous Peoples and local communities have the right to the conservation and protection of the environment and the productive capacity of their lands, territories and resources, and to receive assistance from states for such conservation and protection. States must comply with the obligations of consultation and consent with respect to the establishment and maintenance of protected areas in the lands and territories of Indigenous Peoples and local communities and ensure that they can participate fully and effectively in the governance of such protected areas (Article 15(1) of the ILO Convention 169; African Commission on Human and Peoples' Rights v. Kenya; and Kaliña and Lokono Peoples v. Suriname).

Fourth, states must ensure that Indigenous Peoples and local communities affected by extraction activities, i.e. the use of their traditional knowledge and genetic resources, or other activities in relation to their lands, territories or resources, fairly and equitably share the benefits arising from such activities (Article 15(2) of the ILO Convention 169; Article 8(j) of the CBD; Article 5 of the Nagoya Protocol; and Article 16(g) of the UNCCD). Consultation procedures

should establish the benefits that the affected Indigenous Peoples and local communities are to receive, in a manner consistent with their own priorities. Finally, as provided in the UNDRIP, states must provide for effective remedies for violations of their rights, and just and fair redress for harm resulting from any activities affecting their lands, territories or resources (Article 32(3)). They have the right to restitution or, if this is not possible, just, fair and equitable compensation for their lands, territories and resources that have been taken, used or damaged without their free, prior and informed consent (Article 32(3)).

These obligations apply not only to measures aimed at exploitation of resources, but also to those aimed at conservation. The Special Rapporteur on the rights of Indigenous Peoples, Victoria Tauli-Corpuz, has identified many examples of forced displacement from protected areas, whose consequences have included "marginalization, poverty, loss of livelihoods, food insecurity, extrajudicial killings, and disrupted links with spiritual sites and denial of access to justice and remedy" (Tauli-Corpuz, 2016, para. 51). While states should do more to protect biodiversity, they must act in accordance with the human rights of those who have long-standing, close relationships with their ancestral territories.

Protecting the rights of those who live closest to nature is not just required by human rights law, it is also often the best or only way to ensure the protection of biodiversity. The knowledge and practices of the people who live in biodiversity-rich ecosystems are vital to the conservation and sustainable use of those ecosystems. It has been estimated that Indigenous territories constitute 37 percent of all remaining natural lands, and that Indigenous territories are 40 percent of all protected areas (Garnett *et al.*, 2018). Adding lands of Afro-descendants and other local communities could raise these overlaps to as high as 80 percent (Rights and Resources Initiative, 2020).

Protecting the human rights of Indigenous Peoples and local communities has been shown to result in improved protection for ecosystems and biodiversity (World Resources Institute, 2016; and FAO and FILAC, 2021). Conversely, trying to conserve biodiversity by excluding them from a protected area typically results in failure (Galvin and Haller, 2008). In short, respect for human rights should be seen as complementary, rather than contradictory, to environmental protection.

International and national institutions have recognized the importance of respecting the rights of Indigenous Peoples and local communities who closely depend on natural resources and of supporting their efforts to conserve and sustainably use biodiversity. In particular, Article 8(j) of the CBD requires each party, "subject to its national legislation", to "respect, preserve and maintain knowledge, innovations and practices of indigenous and local communities embodying traditional lifestyles relevant for the conservation and sustainable use of biological diversity", to promote their wider application and to encourage the equitable sharing of benefits. Furthermore, Article 10(c) urges parties to protect and encourage the customary use of biological resources in accordance with traditional cultural practices that are compatible with conservation or sustainable use requirements. The parties to the Convention have built on these provisions, including through the Nagoya Protocol on Access to Genetic Resources and the Fair and Equitable Sharing of Benefits Arising from Their Utilization to the Convention, which, among other things, provides in its Article 7 for "the prior informed consent or approval and involvement of indigenous and local communities" in relation to access to traditional knowledge associated with genetic resources, and in Article 5 requires that the parties take steps to ensure that the benefits arising from utilization of genetic resources and traditional knowledge are shared in a fair and equitable way with the communities concerned.

# 3.3. Rural women's rights

FAO has done significant work upholding the *Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW)*, specifically, on women's rights in the ownership, acquisition, management, administration, enjoyment and disposition of land (Article 16(1)(h)), as well as non-discrimination in rural areas, and women's participation in and benefit-sharing from rural development (Article 14(2)). These represent entry points for ensuring the respect and full realization of women's rights in regard to conservation along with the use of biological and genetic resources (Kenney and Schroder, 2016; Jenkins, 2017), particularly in the context of rural development (which is understood to comprise agricultural and water policies, forestry, livestock, fisheries and aquaculture).

The Committee on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW Committee) recommended ensuring that rural development projects (including actions for the conservation and sustainable use of biodiversity) are implemented only after: 1) conducting participatory gender and environmental impact assessments with full participation of rural women; and 2) obtaining rural women's FPIC and ensuring benefit-sharing (for instance, in revenues generated by large-scale development projects (CEDAW Committee, 2016a). More clarity on the obligations on EIAs, FPIC and benefit-sharing for rural women could be derived by analogy from the CBD guidance on Indigenous Peoples and local communities (discussed above). This recommendation is also relevant for agri-business, as highlighted in the Committee on Food Security's *Principles for Responsible Investment in Agriculture and Food Systems* and the *FAO-OECD Guidance on Responsible Agricultural Supply Chains*.

In addition, guidance provided by the CEDAW Committee on rural women in *General Recommendation 34 on Rural Women*<sup>11</sup> is relevant in interpreting state obligations under the CBD, including under the CBD 2015-2020 Gender Plan of Action, which aims to mainstream a gender perspective in implementing the Convention and promote gender equality in achieving its objectives. While the Action Plan merely refers to a list of "possible actions for State Parties," the states that are party to both the CEDAW and the CBD should consider the following as legally-binding obligations:

- ensuring that women are effectively consulted during national biodiversity strategy and action plan development;
- incorporating national gender policies into national biodiversity strategies and action plans;
- assessing how biodiversity considerations, including national biodiversity strategies and action plans, can be mainstreamed into national gender policies and action plans;
- adopting gender-responsive budgeting when assigning resources for implementation of the Convention; and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> FAO provided extensive inputs to the development of General Recommendation 34 by coordinating inputs from the Rome based agencies of FAO, IFAD and WFP in support of the first draft, and making suggestions to the CEDAW Secretariat in the preparation of subsequent drafts (FAO, 2016). See also FAO, 2013.

 considering the different risks faced by men and women as a result of actions under the Convention.

In turn, the CBD 2015–2020 Gender Plan of Action identifies helpful practical steps to ensure implementation of the human rights of women in the context of biodiversity policy, such as:

- requesting that gender experts review draft national biodiversity strategies and action plans in order to assess gender sensitivity and provide guidance on improvements;
- identifying Indigenous Peoples- and local communities' experts on diversity and gender mainstreaming to support the integration of gender considerations into national biodiversity strategies and action plans;
- establishing a gender review body or agreement, including Indigenous Peoples and local communities, that can provide input on the gender sensitivity of documents and plans prepared to support implementation of the Convention; and
- identifying which sectors are already gathering and using genderdisaggregated data.

# 3.4. Children's rights and the environment

Taken as a whole, no group is more vulnerable to environmental harm than children, especially children under the age of 5.12 Much of the attention to environmental threats to children has been in the context of pollution and exposure to toxic substances. For example, air pollution causes approximately 600 000 deaths of children under the age of 5 every year. Water pollution resulting primarily from unsafe sanitation practices contributes to diarrhoeal diseases that cause more than 350 000 deaths a year of such young children. Climate change is already contributing to a wide range of environmental problems threatening children, such as severe storms and flooding. More than 500 million children live in areas, mostly in Asia, which have extremely high likelihoods of flooding, and approximately 115 million live in zones of high or extremely high risk of tropical cyclones. Beyond the immediate dangers of death and injury, severe storms and floods cause a cascade of additional harms, including compromising safe water supplies, damaging sanitation facilities and destroying housing. Like droughts, floods can cause massive displacement. Children are particularly vulnerable during displacements, when the loss of connections to families, communities and protective services can increase their vulnerability to abuses including child labour and trafficking.

Climate change has many other harmful effects on children's health and well-being, including by increasing the frequency and severity of heatwaves and contributing to wildfires. In addition, the climate crisis is expected to contribute to food scarcity and undernutrition. The WHO has estimated that by 2030, the effects of climate change on nutrition will result in an additional 7.5 million children who are moderately or severely stunted, and approximately 100 000 additional deaths (WHO, 2014, pp. 80, 89).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> This section draws on the report of the UN Special Rapporteur on human rights and the environment (John H. Knox) on children's rights and the environment (see Knox, 2018b).

The ramifications of climate change for children go far beyond its effects on their health, as disastrous as those may be. As the Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR) has stated, "climate change heightens existing social and economic inequalities, intensifies poverty and reverses progress towards improvement in children's well-being" (OHCHR, 2017, para. 50). To give just one example, climate change-induced food insecurity is already increasing the number of marriages of girl children, who are pressured to marry to reduce burdens on their families of origin. (Chamberlain, 2017; Human Rights Watch, 2015). All of these effects – and many others – will drastically worsen throughout the lives of children unless states rapidly adopt and implement effective measures to phase out greenhouse gas emissions and adapt to the effects of a warming climate.

The harm to rural children caused by the loss of biodiversity and ecosystems is often overlooked but is nevertheless of great importance. Children in Indigenous Peoples and other local communities that rely on forests, fisheries and other natural ecosystems for their material subsistence and cultural life suffer disproportionately when those ecosystems are destroyed or degraded. More generally, decreasing biodiversity and the loss of access to the natural environment affect many children around the world. Interaction with microbial diversity is critical to the development of healthy immune systems, as noted above, and the loss of such microbial diversity is linked to the rise in prevalence of autoimmune diseases, allergic disorders and other non-communicable inflammatory diseases in all parts of the world. Exposure to nature also has beneficial effects on mental health (GC 17, Committee on the Rights of the Child, 2013b, para. 40), but many children, especially in urban settings, have little or no contact with the natural environment.

The environmental harms described here interfere with the ability of children to enjoy a very wide range of human rights, including not only their rights to life, health, and an adequate standard of living, but also their rights to development, and even to play and recreation. States' obligations to protect against environmental harm apply with particular force to harm to children. Under the *Framework Principles on Human Rights and the Environment*, states generally have some discretion to decide on the level of substantive environmental protection they deem appropriate. However, with respect to the protection of children's rights from environmental harm, states' discretion is limited by their obligations under the *Convention on the Rights of the Child* and other agreements to adopt and implement special measures of protection, assistance and care for children, and to ensure that the best interests of children are a primary consideration in all actions concerning children (Article 3 of the CRC; Article 1(3) of the ICESCR). These obligations require states not just to protect children from harm, but also to ensure their well-being and development, including by taking into account the possibility of future risk and harm (GC 14, Committee on the Rights of the Child, 2013c, paras. 24 and 71).

As the Special Rapporteur, John Knox, stated in his 2018 report to the HRC, the discretion accorded states in deciding appropriate levels of environmental protection rests on the assumption that societies will make informed decisions as to how to balance the costs of environmental harm against the benefits of spending resources for other goals, such as faster short-term economic growth (Knox, 2018b, para. 57). But the cost-benefit calculus is very different for children, especially younger children. The consequences of environmental harm are usually far more severe, and may include death or irreversible, lifelong effects. The cumulative effects of long-term environmental harm, such as climate change and the loss of biodiversity, increase over time, so that decisions taken today will affect children much more than adults. The lack of full information about many types of environmental harm means that their long-term effects are often poorly understood and underestimated. And the voices of children are only rarely heard in environmental decision-making.

Therefore, to satisfy their obligations of special protection and care, and to ensure that the best interests of the child are taken into account, states have heightened obligations to take effective measures to protect children from environmental harm. They should make certain that they are protecting children's rights, with particular attention to rural children, before they make decisions that may cause environmental harm, including by: collecting and disseminating disaggregated information on the effects of pollution, chemicals and other potentially toxic substances on the health and well-being of children; ensuring that the views of children are taken into account in environmental decision-making; and carrying out children's rights impact assessments. States should adopt and implement environmental standards that are consistent with the best available science and relevant international health and safety standards, and they should never take retrogressive measures.

The lack of full scientific certainty should never be used to justify postponing effective and proportionate measures to prevent environmental harm to children, especially when there are threats of serious or irreversible damage. On the contrary, states should take precautionary measures to protect against such harm. Once standards that are protective of children's rights are adopted, states must ensure that they are effectively implemented and enforced. To that end, they must provide regulatory agencies with sufficient resources to monitor and enforce compliance with domestic laws, including by investigating complaints and bringing appropriate remedial actions. As part of their obligations to protect children from environmental harm, states must adequately regulate private actors, including business enterprises.

These are a set of international obligations that legal experts who are advising on the development or review of national legislation would likely have to discuss for the first time in a variety of natural resource sectors.

# 3.5. Relevance for national legislation on natural resources

These clarifications are essential for FAO's support to the implementation of the 2012 *Voluntary Guidelines on the Responsible Governance of Tenure of Land, Fisheries and Forests in the Context of National Food Security (VGGT)* and the 2015 *Voluntary Guidelines for Securing Sustainable Small-Scale Fisheries in the context of food security and poverty eradication (SSF Guidelines)*. Both sets of guidelines provide accessible and flexible guidance for natural resource decision-makers and managers, as well as natural resource stakeholders. They are both based on international human rights instruments, so their interpretation and implementation can rely explicitly on international human rights obligations and standards.

A key opportunity here is to bring together more explicitly the human rights-based approach and the ecosystem approach within the specificities of natural resource governance. To that end, a closer analysis of guidance adopted under the CBD can provide more clarity on the interface between impact assessment obligations, and free, prior and informed consent (FPIC), along with fair and equitable benefit-sharing (Framework Principle 15) to ensure the respect of Indigenous Peoples' and other communities' human rights in different natural resource sectors (Morgera, 2018).<sup>13</sup> In effect, the VGGT make explicit reference to the CBD in para 9.3. In turn, CBD Parties have considered the VGGT relevant to address the interface of poverty and biodiversity, as stated in Annex Section 2 of the CBD COP Decision XII/5 and in para. 7 of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> This Section 3.5 builds on Morgera, 2018.

the CBD COP Decision XIII. The CBD Parties have also considered the SSF Guidelines relevant to mainstream biodiversity in the fisheries sector, as stated in para. 64 of the CBD COP Decision XIII. The Framework Principle 15 and the CBD guidelines discussed below are also relevant for FAO's work to support the implementation of provisions on farmers' rights under the International Treaty on Plant Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture (ITPGRFA) of 2001 and the UNDROP.

On environmental and socio-cultural impact assessments, the *Akwé: Kon Guidelines (CBD COP Decision VII/16F)* provide a step-by-step approach to the inclusion of inter-linked socio-cultural and biodiversity concerns in environmental impact assessments, calling for specific attention to: beliefs systems, languages and customs, traditional systems of natural resource use, maintenance of genetic diversity through Indigenous customary management, exercise of customary laws regarding land tenure, as well as distribution of resources and benefits from transgenerational aspects, including opportunities for elders to pass on their knowledge to youths. The Guidelines clarify that processes should be established for recording Indigenous Peoples' views, for example when they are unable to attend public meetings because of remoteness or poor health, as well as the usage of nonwritten forms. In addition, governments should provide sufficient human, financial, technical and legal resources to support Indigenous expertise proportionally to the scale of any proposed development. Indigenous communities should also be involved in the development's financial auditing processes so that the resources invested are used effectively.

Another CBD guidance, the *Voluntary Guidelines on Biodiversity-inclusive Impact Assessments* (CBD COP Decision VIII/28), support incorporating biodiversity-related issues into environmental impact assessments (EIAs) beyond cases in which sacred sites or lands traditionally used by Indigenous Peoples are concerned. These guidelines call for an assessment of several human rights-related issues, such as: inter-related "socio-economic, cultural and human-health" impacts; changes in access to and rights over biological resources; social change processes resulting from a proposed project; sensitive species that may be important for local livelihoods and cultures; activities leading to displacement of people; along with impacts on societal benefits and values related to land-use function (CBD COP Decision VI/7).

Additionally, the *Mo'otz Kuxtal Guidelines* (*CBD COP Decision XIII/18*)<sup>14</sup> contain several elements that serve to explain what FPIC and benefit-sharing obligations entail, that go beyond any guidance available under international human rights. First, FPIC in the Guidelines conveys that Indigenous Peoples should not be "pressured, intimidated, manipulated or unduly influenced." Second, the understanding of "prior" underscores the need to take into account the time requirements for Indigenous Peoples' own decision-making procedures. Third, the understanding of "consent or approval" includes the right *not* to grant consent and to allow the temporary use of traditional knowledge only for the purpose that it was granted, unless it was otherwise mutually agreed (para. 7). More fundamentally, the Guidelines emphasize that FPIC is a:

continual process of building mutually beneficial, ongoing arrangements between users and holders of traditional knowledge, in order to build trust, good relations, mutual understanding, intercultural spaces, knowledge exchanges and to create new knowledge and reconciliation. This clearly clarifies that consent or approval is an iterative process, not a one-off exercise, which "should underpin and be

<sup>14</sup> While these guidelines focus on access to the traditional knowledge of Indigenous Peoples and local communities, their clarifications of FPIC and benefit-sharing obligations can also be considered relevant for other contexts (extractives or creation of protected areas, for instance), both because of the guidance's general nature and the inextricable links between Indigenous Peoples' lands, resources and knowledge.

an integral part of developing a relationship between users and providers of traditional knowledge (CBD COP Decision XIII/18, para. 8; Morgera, 2019).

In addition, the Mo'otz Kuxtal Guidelines provide step-by-step guidance to implement FPIC through:

- the provision of adequate and balanced information from a variety of sources that is made available in indigenous or local languages, to ensure that all parties have the same understanding of information and terms provided;
- the submission of a written application in a manner and language comprehensible to the traditional knowledge holder; and
- a legitimate and culturally appropriate form of decision-making process, including consideration of possible social, cultural and economic impacts (para. 7(b)).

CBD guidance also provides more detail on how fair and equitable benefit-sharing supports the agency of beneficiaries and the need to build a genuine partnership among actors whose relationship is characterized by power asymmetries (Morgera, 2019). The Akwé: Kon Guidelines call for the integration of benefit-sharing as part of any assessment, which can help to move away from an exclusive focus on 'damage control' issues that tend to characterize these exercises. Carefully thinking about benefits from Indigenous Peoples' viewpoint, at the early stage of scoping for impacts, in and of itself requires a systematic consideration of not only the negative impacts (such as potential damage to ways of life, livelihoods, well-being and traditional knowledge) but also of positive impacts on food, health, environmental sustainability, together with community well-being, vitality and viability (employment levels and opportunities, welfare, education and its availability as well as standards of housing, infrastructure, services) (para. 40). With these considerations, the Guidelines may 'open up' assessment to different worldviews so as to take into account, in an integrated manner, Indigenous Peoples' rights over lands and waters traditionally occupied or used by them together with their associated biodiversity.

In addition, the Mo'otz Kuxtal Guidelines, emphasize that benefit-sharing is about iterative partnership building, rather than a top-down, one-off or unilateral flow of benefits where Indigenous Peoples are passive beneficiaries. These Guidelines make reference to partnership and cooperation as principles which quide the process for establishing mutually agreed terms, so as to ensure fair and equitable benefit-sharing with and among traditional knowledge holders. In addition, they indicate that "benefits should, as far as possible, be shared in understandable and culturally appropriate formats, with a view to building enduring relationships, promoting intercultural exchanges, knowledge and technology transfer, synergies, complementarity and respect" (para. 23). Furthermore, the Guidelines draw attention to the role of benefit-sharing in supporting cultural reproduction, by stating that "benefitsharing could include a way of recognising and strengthening the contribution of Indigenous Peoples and local communities to the conservation and sustainable use of biological diversity, including support for the intergenerational transmission of traditional knowledge" (para. 13). The Guidelines note that "benefit-sharing should be fair and equitable within and among relevant groups, taking into account relevant community level procedures and as appropriate gender and age/intergenerational considerations" (para. 14). Finally, concerns about potential

inequities at the level of intracommunity benefit-sharing that have already been encapsulated in other international guidelines – notably the Committee on Food Security's *Guidance for Responsible Agricultural Investment* – are also addressed.

This international guidance adopted intergovernmentally under the CBD is particularly significant if we consider that the aim and content of international obligations regarding fair and equitable benefit-sharing in international human rights law remain quite elusive. Former Special Rapporteur on the rights of Indigenous Peoples, James Anaya, emphasized that the preferred model for natural resource development is "one which Indigenous Peoples themselves initiate and engage in." Extractive projects are to be carried out by outside companies or the state only if Indigenous Peoples are not able to do so themselves and in that case an agreement is needed to fully protect their rights and make Indigenous Peoples genuine partners in natural resource development projects (for instance, through a minority ownership interest in the extractive operations) to participate in project decision-making and share in profits (Anaya, 2013, para. 75). This points to the usefulness of benefit-sharing arrangements that at the same time provide enhanced participation opportunities and income generation for Indigenous Peoples. In addition, Anaya emphasized that "benefit sharing must go beyond restrictive approaches based solely on financial payments which, depending on the specific circumstances, may not be adequate for the communities receiving them." He referred to documented experience showing that monetary benefits to Indigenous Peoples may have negative (including divisive) effects on communities and lead to the exercise of undue influence and even bribery. Accordingly, he recommended giving consideration to "the development of benefit-sharing mechanisms which genuinely strengthen the capacity of indigenous peoples to establish and follow up their development priorities and which help to make their own decision-making mechanisms and institutions more effective" (Anaya, 2010, para. 80). Anaya thus encouraged Indigenous Peoples to use consultations with governments and other stakeholders as mechanisms to reach "agreements that are in keeping with their own priorities and strategies for development, bring them tangible benefits and, moreover, advance the enjoyment of their human rights" (Anaya, 2013, para. 59). Other international human rights processes have been significant in clarifying that they must be consistent with Indigenous Peoples' and traditional communities' own priorities (Knox, 2017b, paras. 53 and 47–49).

# 4. Climate change and biodiversity

The Framework Principles on Human Rights and the Environment, as well as other reports by Special Rapporteurs on human rights and the environment on biodiversity, when read together with relevant guidance adopted under the CBD, provide a host of other directions for providing legal advice on national legislation on natural resources, with particular regard to the mitigation of and adaptation to climate change, and the interdependence of the human right to health and biodiversity (Morgera, 2020).

# 4.1. Human rights and climate change

CBD Parties have systematically identified potential and actual threats that climate change and climate change response measures pose to the conservation and sustainable use of biodiversity, along with ways to assess and prevent negative impacts on biodiversity through mutually supportive interpretation and application of international climate and biodiversity law (Morgera, 2013). These contributions have been based on the CBD ecosystem approach and have (often implicitly) contributed to defining a rights-based approach to climate change adaptation and mitigation, mainly with regard to the human rights of Indigenous Peoples and local communities (see above). Given FAO's normative work on integrating climate change in international guidance and national regulator approaches to natural resources (see FAO, 2020), the following CBD guidelines can support those providing legal advice that integrates human rights, climate change and biodiversity.

For instance, CBD Parties have committed to:

- integrating ecosystem-based approaches when updating their nationally determined contributions, where appropriate and pursuing domestic climate action under the Paris Agreement, taking into account the importance of ensuring the integrity and functionality of all ecosystems, including oceans;
- recognizing that ecosystems can be managed to limit climate change impacts on biodiversity and support people's resilience, taking into account multiple social, economic and cultural co-benefits for local communities; and
- recognizing the role of indigenous and community conserved areas (ICCAs) and biodiversity-based livelihoods in the face of climate change (CBD COP Decision XIV/5).

CBD Parties have also adopted specific guidelines under COP Decision IX/2 on biofuels production together with the production and use of biomass for energy, to avoid or minimize negative impacts on forest biodiversity and the lives of Indigenous Peoples and local communities. They mainly recommend applying earlier CBD standards in this sector, such as:

• the Addis Ababa Principles and Guidelines for the Sustainable Use of Biodiversity (CBD COP Decision VII/12);

- the CBD work programme on protected areas (CBD COP Decision VII/28);
- the CBD work programme on traditional knowledge (CBD COP Decision V/16);
- the Akwé: Kon Guidelines (CBD COP Decision VII/16F);
- the Global Strategy for Plant Conservation (CBD COP Decision VI/9); and
- the Guiding Principles for the Prevention, Introduction and Mitigation of Impacts of Alien Species that Threaten Ecosystems, Habitats or Species (CBD COP Decision VI/23).

In addition, CBD parties under *COP Decision X/37*, emphasized that impact assessments must also be carried out to address relevant land tenure and resource rights and impacts on areas of cultural, religious and heritage interest. Furthermore, there must be respect for Indigenous Peoples' and local communities' sustainable agricultural practices, along with food and energy security (para. 2, 6, and 8–10).

CBD Parties have also adopted specific guidance on Reducing emissions from deforestation and forest degradation (REDD+), including human rights-related concerns, such as the possible loss of traditional territories and restriction in the rights of Indigenous Peoples and local communities to have access to, use of and/or ownership of land and natural resources. Other concerns include inadequate tangible livelihood benefits for Indigenous Peoples and local communities as well as a lack of equitable benefit-sharing; and the need to ensure the full and effective participation of Indigenous Peoples and local communities in relevant policy-making and implementation processes (CBD COP Decision XI/9, Annex).

More recently, CBD Parties have adopted voluntary guidelines for the design and effective implementation of ecosystem-based approaches to adaptation and disaster risk reduction under *COP Decision XIV/5*. These approaches should be aimed at contributing to the well-being of societies, including Indigenous Peoples and local communities, together with maintaining and increasing the resilience of ecosystems and people. The guidelines should be read in conjunction with the *CBD COP Decision XIII/5-- Ecosystem Restoration: Short-Term Action Plan*. Together, these guidelines call for:

- ensuring transparency throughout planning and implementation;
- promoting fair and equitable benefit-sharing and not exacerbating existing inequities, thus aiming to prevent and avoid the disproportionate impacts of climate change as well as disaster risk on vulnerable groups, Indigenous Peoples as well as local communities, women and girls;
- integrating traditional knowledge in identifying and monitoring climatic, weather and biodiversity changes along with impending natural hazards and maintaining/re-introducing customary sustainable use (traditional agricultural practices);
- applying the CBD Akwé Kon Guidelines at the earliest stage of project design;

- seeking prior informed consent through the full and effective participation
  of Indigenous Peoples and local communities, as well as the engagement
  of women and other relevant stakeholders at all stages of ecosystem
  restoration, particularly in the identification of priority areas for restoration;
- reviewing, improving or establishing a legal and policy framework for land tenure, recognizing the rights of indigenous peoples and local communities;
- selecting restoration approaches that allow people to maintain and/or establish sustainable livelihoods; and
- maximizing synergies to achieve multiple benefits, for instance in gender equality and human health.

Furthermore, CBD Parties have adopted voluntary guidelines under *COP Decision XII/23* on coral reefs and closely associated ecosystems (such as mangroves and seagrasses), that can support socioecological resilience to the impacts of climate change, as well as respect for substantive and cultural human rights.

### These guidelines call for:

- maintaining sustainable livelihoods and food security in reef-dependent coastal communities, including Indigenous Peoples and local communities, along with providing for viable alternative livelihoods;
- promoting community-based measures, including community rightsbased management, to manage fisheries sustainably; and encouraging as well as supporting community-based marine-managed areas;
- managing impacts from large-scale tourism development and consequent habitat loss as well as alteration in coral reefs and closely associated ecosystems, together with support for sustainable tourism, by providing socioeconomic incentives and empowering coastal communities for ecotourism operations (paras. 8(1)(b), 8(3)(c-g) and 8(8)(c));
- identifying and applying measures to improve the adaptive capacity of coral reef-based socio-ecological systems within the local context, which will ensure sustainable livelihoods of reef-dependent coastal communities and provide for viable alternative livelihoods, on the basis of socioecological vulnerability monitoring and assessment protocols in coral reef regions;
- prioritizing poverty-reduction programmes for reef-dependent coastal communities and implementation of socioeconomic incentives to encourage coastal communities to play a central role in conservation and sustainable use of coral reefs along with closely associated ecosystems (for instance, through community-based conservation trust funds supported by fees from eco-tourism and fines for unsustainable use); and empowering coastal communities in reef-management, by providing necessary resources and capacity-building, as well as devolving responsibilities (CBD COP Decision XIV/5, para. 9 and 10(f)).

# 4.2. Biodiversity and everyone's right to health

Clarity on the factual relationship between biodiversity and the human right to health has been bolstered since 2015, when WHO and the CBD Secretariat published a seminal joint report Connecting Global Priorities: Biodiversity and Human Health – A State of Knowledge Review, identifying biodiversity as a key environmental determinant of human health due to links on various spatial (from planetary to microbial) and temporal scales. Many of the findings of the report are relevant to FAO's mandate, such as:

- all terrestrial and freshwater ecosystems play a role in underpinning the water cycle, including regulating nutrient cycling and soil erosion. Many ecosystems (such as mountain ecosystems) can also play a role in managing pollution – the water purification services they provide underpin water quality;
- ecosystems can affect air quality in three main ways: i) by directly removing air pollution (absorption or intake of gases through leaves, direct deposition of particulate matter on plant surfaces); ii) by affecting meteorological patterns (local temperature, precipitation, air flows); and iii) by emitting volatile organic carbons that affect atmospheric chemistry and air-quality regulation;
- components of biodiversity can be used as bio-indicators of known human health stressors, as well as in air- and water-quality mapping, monitoring and regulation. For instance, lichens are making headway as reliable indicators for air quality regulation. In addition, long-term trends in freshwater ecosystems (water quality) are arguably better monitored using the diversity of aquatic organisms;
- a diversity of species, varieties and breeds, as well as wild sources (plants, bush meat, insects and fungi) underpin dietary diversity and good nutrition. The global decline in various species will present major public health challenges for resource-dependent human populations, particularly in low- and middle-income countries (significantly increasing clinical levels of energy, protein, certain vitamins, iron, zinc, magnesium and fatty acids). Conservation measures that deny access to bush meat and other wild sources of food and medicines can thus have negative impacts on human health;
- human-caused changes in ecosystems, such as modified landscapes, intensive agriculture and antimicrobial use, are increasing the risk and impact of infectious disease transmission, because they result in enhanced opportunities for contact at the human/animal/environment interface and through changing vector abundance, composition, and/ or distribution; and
- biodiversity has been an irreplaceable resource for the discovery of medicines and biomedical breakthroughs. Between 1981 and 2010, 75 percent of anti-bacterials newly approved by the United States Food

and Drug Administration can be traced back to natural product origins. Percentages of anti-virals and anti-parasitics derived from natural products approved during that same period are similar or higher. Reliance upon biodiversity for new drugs occurs in nearly every domain of medicine (WHO and CBD Secretariat, 2015).

In 2018, the Assembly of the WHO emphasised the complex and non-linear linkages specifically between human health, biodiversity (species and genotypes of organisms providing diverse foods, essential nutrients and medicines) and ecosystem services. The WHO has increasingly underscored how:

- exposure to biodiverse green spaces, particularly in urban settings, can improve psychological, cognitive and physiological health (serving as a treatment for depression, anxiety and behavioural problems, as well as reducing recuperation times and improving recovery outcomes in hospital patients with non-communicable diseases) (WHO, 2018);
- exposure to biodiverse green spaces also provides health benefits for children's development, as well as encourages regular physical activity and improves life expectancy (WHO, 2018);
- reduced human contact with biodiversity, alternatively, may lead to reduced diversity in the human microbiota, weakening of the human microbiome's immune-regulatory role and onset of non-communicable diseases (type 1 diabetes, multiple sclerosis, inflammatory bowel diseases) (WHO and CBD Secretariat, 2015).

Against this background, legal experts advising on the development or review of national legislation in a variety of natural resource sectors can benefit from CBD Guidance on the linkages between human right to health and biodiversity and support consideration of all dimensions of health and human well-being (food and nutrition security, infectious and non-communicable diseases as well as the psychological and biocultural dimensions of health) in the light of the following state obligations:

- addressing the unintended negative impacts of health interventions on biodiversity (for example, antibiotic resistance, contamination from pharmaceuticals) and incorporating ecosystem concerns into public health policies;
- addressing the unintended negative impacts of biodiversity interventions on human health (for example, negative effects from the creation of protected areas or hunting bans on access to traditional food and medicinal plants);
- considering relevant health-biodiversity linkages in developing and updating relevant national policies, risk analyses, vulnerability assessments along with integrated impact and strategic assessments in order to target a broader spectrum of issues threatening health outcomes, including antimicrobial resistance, vector-borne and waterborne diseases, food security and malnutrition, as well as interactions with other drivers

of biodiversity loss and ill health, including climate change (CBD COP Decision, XIII/6);

• adopting preventive measures for human health based on strengthening the resilience of socio-ecological systems (CBD COP Decision XIV/4).

# 5. Conclusions

The Framework Principles on Human Rights and the Environment, and relevant guidance adopted under the CBD, provide detailed guidelines on how to respect human rights standards in complex natural resource governance, which can be put into practice as part of the multiple normative initiatives to implement FAO's mandate and its instruments. These guidelines should be taken into account systematically by all legal experts advising on the development and review of national legislation on agricultural development and the management of renewable natural resources, ranging from land, water, fisheries, plants, and animals to food, forestry, wildlife, biodiversity and trade laws, as well as on associated issues like climate change, gender equality, agribusiness operations, the right to food, the right to water, and the prevention of potential conflicts arising from the competition for natural resources.

From a practical perspective, more explicit and systematic reliance on the Framework Principles and the CBD and its guidance by national and international legal advisors in natural resources law, can contribute towards heightening the urgency to protect biodiversity, which could be perceived as a broadly shared priority across different groups of human rights-holders and constituencies. This approach could support the building of new alliances among sectors (within government and civil society), for example, in the health, children, climate change and biodiversity sectors. Fundamentally, it could support policy coherence (SDG 17.14) and more synergistic approaches to the realization of multiple SDGs, while demonstrating the benefits of better understanding the multiple state obligations as aligned and mutually supportive of each other.

# References

# Literature

**Alston, P**. 2019. *Climate Change and Poverty - Report of the Special Rapporteur on Extreme Poverty and Human Rights*. Human Rights Council, A/HRC/41/39.

**Anaya, J.** 2010. Report of the Special Rapporteur on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples. Human Rights Council A/HRC/15/37.

**Anaya, J.** 2011. Report of the Special Rapporteur on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples - Extractive Industries Operating within or Near Indigenous Territories. Human Rights Council, A/HRC/18/35.

**Anaya, J.** 2013. *Report of the Special Rapporteur on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples*. Human Rights Council, A/HRC/24/41.

**Bennoune, K**. 2020. *Report of the Special Rapporteur in the field of cultural rights.* UNGA A/75/298.

**Bernstein, A**. 2014. Biological Diversity and Public Health. *Annual Review of Public Health* 35: 153–167.

**Boyd, D.R**. 2011. The Implicit Constitutional Right to Live in a Healthy Environment. *RECIEL* 20(2): 171–179.

**Boyd, D.R**. 2012. *The Environmental Rights Revolution: A Global Study of Constitutions, Human Rights, and the Environment*. Vancouver, Canada, UBC Press.

**Boyd, D.R**. 2018. Catalyst for Change: Evaluating Forty Years of Experience in Implementing the Right to a Healthy Environment. In J. Knox & R. Pejan, eds. *The Human Right to a Healthy Environment*, pp. 19–23. Cambridge, United Kingdom, Cambridge University Press.

**Boyd, D.R.** 2019a. Report of the UN Special Rapporteur on the Issue of Human Rights Obligations Relating to the Enjoyment of a Safe, Clean, Healthy and Sustainable Environment. Human Rights Council, A/HRC/43/53.

**Boyd, D.R.** 2019b. *Issue of Human Rights Obligations Relating to the Enjoyment of a Safe, Clean, Healthy and Sustainable Environment*. Human Rights Council, A/HRC/40/55.

**Boyd, D.R**. 2019c. Report of the Special Rapporteur on the Issue of Human Rights Obligations Relating to the Enjoyment of a Safe, Clean, Healthy and Sustainable Environment. UNGA A/74/161, 15 July 2019.

**Boyd, D.R**. 2020. Report of the Special Rapporteur on the Issue of Human Rights Obligations Relating to the Enjoyment of a Safe, Clean, Healthy and Sustainable Environment – Human rights depend on a healthy biosphere. UNGA A/75/161, 15 July 2020.

**Boyd, D.R.** 2021. *Human rights and the global water crisis: water pollution, water scarcity and water-related disasters.* Report of the Special Rapporteur. Human Rights Council. A/HRC/46/28.

**Boyd, D.R. & Keene, S**. 2021. *Human rights-based approaches to conserving biodiversity: equitable, effective and imperative.* Policy Brief No. 1. A policy brief from the UN Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and the Environment.

**Burns W**. 2007. 'Potential Causes of Action for Climate Impacts under the United Nations Fish Stocks Agreement' *Climate Law Reporter* 7: 34.

Cardinale, B.J., Duffy, E.J., Gonzalez, A., Hooper, D.U., Perrings, C., Venail, P., Narwani, A., et al. 2012. Biodiversity Loss and its Impact on Humanity. *Nature* 486: 59–67.

**CBD Secretariat (Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity)**. 2017. 2015-2020 Gender Plan of Action. In: *Convention on Biological Diversity*. Cited 15 December 2021. www.cbd.int/gender/action-plan

**CBD Secretariat**. 2020. *Global Biodiversity Outlook 5 – Summary for Policy Makers*. Montreal, Canada. www.cbd.int/gbo/gbo5/publication/gbo-5-spm-en.pdf

**CCPR (Human Rights Committee)**. 1989. *CCPR General Comment No. 18: Non-discrimination*. CCPR/C/21/Rev.1/Add.1.

**CCPR**. 1994. *CCPR General Comment No. 23: Article 27 (Rights of Minorities)*, CCPR/C/21/Rev.1/Add.5.

**CCPR**. 2018. *General Comment No. 36: Article 6: Right to Life*, CCPR/C/GC/36.

**CEDAW Committee (Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Woman)**. 2016a. *Concluding Observations on the Seventh Periodic Report of Argentina*. CEDAW/C/ARG/CO/7.

**CEDAW Committee**. 2016b. *General Recommendation No. 34 on the Rights of Rural Women.* CEDAW/C/GC/34.

**CESCR (Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights)**. 1990. *General Comment No. 3: The Nature of States Parties' obligations (Art. 2, Para. 1, of the Covenant)*. E/1991/23.

**CESCR**. 1999. General Comment No. 12: The Right to Adequate Food (Art. 11). E/C/12/1999/5.

**Chamberlain, G.** 2017. 'Why climate change is creating a new generation of child brides' *Guardian*. www.theguardian.com/society/2017/nov/26/climate-change-creating-generation-of-child-brides-in-africa

**Committee on the Rights of the Child**. 2013a. *General Comment No. 16 (2013) on State Obligations regarding the Impact of the Business Sector on Children's Rights*. CRC/C/GC/16.

**Committee on the Rights of the Child**. 2013b. *General Comment No. 17 (2013) on the right of the child to rest, leisure, play, recreational activities, cultural life and the arts (art. 31).* CRC/C/GC/17.

**Committee on the Rights of the Child**. 2013c. *General Comment No. 14 (2013) on the right of the child to have his or her best interests taken as a primary consideration (art. 3, para 1).* CRC/C/GC14.

**Council of Europe**. 2012. *Manual on Human Rights and the Environment*. Strasbourg, France, Council of Europe Publishing. www.echr.coe.int/librarydocs/dh\_dev\_manual\_environment\_eng.pdf

**Daly, E. & May, J.R**. 2018. *Implementing Environmental Constitutionalism*. Cambridge, United Kingdom, Cambridge University Press.

**Elver, H.** 2017. Report of the Special Rapporteur on the Right to Food on her mission to Paraguay. Human Rights Council, A/HRC/34/48/Add.2. www.refworld.org/docid/58ad9cfe4.html

**FAO** (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations). 2013. *Rural women's empowerment is key to food security, nutrition and poverty reduction*. FAO's contribution to the CEDAW Half-Day General Discussion on Rural Women. Oral statement. Geneva, 7 October 2013.

**FAO**. 2016. *Meeting our goals: FAO's programme for gender equality in agriculture and rural development*. Rome. 77 pp. www.fao.org/3/i6618e/i6618e.pdf

**FAO**. 2020. Agriculture and climate change – Law and governance in support of climate smart agriculture and international climate change goals. FAO Legislative Studies No. 115. Rome. https://doi.org/10.4060/cb1593en

FAO and Fund for the Development of the Indigenous Peoples of Latin America and the Caribbean (FILAC). 2021. Forest Governance by Indigenous and Tribal Peoples: An Opportunity for Climate Action in Latin America and the Caribbean. Santiago, FAO and FILAC. www.fao.org/documents/card/en/c/cb2953en

**Forst, M**. 2016. Situation of Human Rights Defenders. UNGA A/71/281.

**Galvin, M. & Haller, T., eds.** 2008. *People, Protected Areas and Global Change: Participatory Conservation in Latin America, Africa, Asia and Europe*. Bern, NCCR North-South, University of Bern.

Garnett, S.T., Burgess, N. D., Fa, J.E., Fernández-Llamazares, Á., Molnár, Z., Robinson, C.J., Watson, J.E.M., et al. 2018. A Spatial Overview of the Global Importance of Indigenous Lands for Conservation. *Nature Sustainability* 1: 369–374.

**Global Witness**. 2020. *Defending Tomorrow: The Climate Crisis and Threats Against Land and Environmental Defenders*. London, Global Witness. www.globalwitness.org/en/campaigns/environmental-activists/defending-tomorrow

Haahtela, T., Holgate, S., Pawankar, R., Akdis, C.A., Benjaponpitak., S., Caraballo, L., Demain, J., Portnoy, J. & von Hertzen, L. 2013. The Biodiversity Hypothesis and Allergic Disease: World Allergy Organization Position Statement. *World Allergy Organization Journal* 6(3): 1–18.

Harrison, P.A., Berry, P.A., Simpson, G., Haslett, J.R., Blicharska, M., Bucur, M., Dunford, R., *et al.* 2014. Linkages Between Biodiversity Attributes and Ecosystem Services: A Systematic Review. *Ecosystem Services* 9: 191–203.

**Human Rights Watch**. 2015. Marry before your house is swept away: child marriage in Bangladesh. In *Human Rights Watch*. New York. Cited 17 December 2021. www.hrw.org/report/2015/06/09/marry-your-house-swept-away/child-marriage-bangladesh

**IACtHR (Inter-American Court of Human Rights)**. 2017. The Environment and Human Rights (State Obligations in Relation to the Environment in the Context of the Protection and Guarantee of the Rights to Life and to Personal Integrity: Interpretation and Scope of Articles 4(1) and 5(1) in Relation to Articles 1(1) and 2 of the American Convention on human Rights). Advisory Opinion No. OC-23/17, 15 November 2017.

**ILO (International Labour Organization)**. 2013. Understanding the Indigenous and Tribal People Convention, 1989 (No. 169). Handbook for ILO Tripartite Constituents / International Labour standards Department. Geneva. www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed\_norm/---normes/documents/publication/wcms\_205225.pdf

**IPBES (Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity)**. 2016. Summary for Policymakers of the Assessment Report on Pollinators, Pollination and Food Production. Bonn, Germany, IPBES Secretariat. https://ipbes.net/assessment-reports/pollinators

**Jenkins, K**. 2017. A Conversation in Gender Equality. In *Australian Human Rights Commission*. Sydney, Australia. Cited 17 December 2021. https://humanrights.gov.au/our-work/sexdiscrimination/publications/conversation-gender-equality-2017

**Kenney, N. & Schroder, M.** 2016. Gender Equality and Benefit Sharing: Exploring the Linkages in Relation to Land and Genetic Resources. In *BeneLex Blog*. Glasgow, United Kingdom. Cited 20 September 2021. https://benelexblog.wordpress.com/2016/12/05/gender-equality-and-benefit-sharing-exploring-the-linkages-in-relation-to-land-and-genetic-resources/

**Knox, J.H.** 2013. Report of the Independent Expert on the Issue of Human Rights Obligations Relating to the Enjoyment of a Safe, Clean, Healthy and Sustainable Environment. Human Rights Council, A/HRC/25/53.

**Knox, J.H.** 2016. Report of the Special Rapporteur on the Issue of Human Rights Obligations Relating to the Enjoyment of a Safe, Clean, Healthy and Sustainable Environment. Human Rights Council, A/HRC/31/52.

**Knox, J.H.** 2017a. *Environmental Human Rights Defenders: A Global Crisis*. Geneva, Switzerland, Universal Rights Group. www.universal-rights.org/urg-policy-reports/environmental-human-rights-defenders-ehrds-risking-today-tomorrow

**Knox, J.H.** 2017b. Report of the Special Rapporteur on the Issue of Human Rights Obligations Relating to the Enjoyment of a Safe, Clean, Healthy and Sustainable Environment. Human Rights Council, A/HRC/34/49.

**Knox, J.H.** 2018a. Report of the UN Special Rapporteur on the Issue of Human Rights Obligations Relating to the Enjoyment of a Safe, Clean, Healthy and Sustainable Environment. Human Rights Council, A/HRC/37/59.

**Knox, J.H.** 2018b. Report of the UN Special Rapporteur on the Issue of Human Rights Obligations Relating to the Enjoyment of a Safe, Clean, Healthy and Sustainable Environment – on the relationship between children's rights and environmental protection. Human Rights Council, A/HRC/37/58.

**Millennium Ecosystem Assessment**. 2005. *Ecosystem and Human Well-being: Synthesis*. Washington, D.C., Island Press. www.millenniumassessment.org/documents/document.356.aspx.pdf

**Morgera, E.** 2013. No Need to Reinvent the Wheel for a Human Rights-Based Approach to Tackling Climate Change: The Contribution of International Biodiversity Law. In Hollo, E.J., Kulovesi, K. & Mehling, M., eds. *Climate Change and the Law,* pp. 350–390. Cham, Switzerland, Springer.

**Morgera, E.** 2017. The Ecosystem Approach and the Precautionary Principle. In Morgera, E. & Razzaque, J., eds. *Encyclopedia of Environmental Law: Biodiversity and Nature Protection Law*, pp.70–80. Cheltenham, United Kingdom, Edward Elgar.

**Morgera, E.** 2018. Dawn of a New Day? The Evolving Relationship between the Convention on Biological Diversity and International Human Rights Law. *Wake Forest Law Review* 54: 691–712.

**Morgera, E.** 2019. Under the Radar: Fair and Equitable Benefit-sharing and the Human Rights of Indigenous Peoples and Local Communities Connected to Nature Resources. *International Journal of Human Rights* 23: 1098–1139.

**Morgera, E**. 2020. *Biodiversity as a Human Right and its Implications for the EU's External Action*. Report to the European Parliament. www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/STUD/2020/603491/EXPO\_STU(2020)603491\_EN.pdf

OHCHR (Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights). 2017. Analytical study on the relationship between climate change and the full and effective enjoyments of the rights of the child. Report of the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to the Human Rights Council, A/HRC/35/13. https://ap.ohchr.org/documents/dpage\_e.aspx?si=A/HRC/35/13

**Rights and Resources Initiative**. 2020. *Rights-Based Conservation: The Path to Preserving Earth's Biological and Cultural Diversity?* Washington, D.C., Rights and Resources Initiative. https://rightsandresources.org/publication/rights-based-conservation

**Sandifer, P.A., Sutton-Grier, A.E. & Ward, B.P.** 2015. Exploring Connections Among Nature, Biodiversity, Ecosystem Services, and Human Health and Well-being: Opportunities to Enhance Health and Biodiversity Conservation. *Ecosystem Services* 12: 1–15.

**Sekaggya, M**. 2011. Report of the Special Rapporteur on the Situation of Human Rights Defenders. UNGA A/66/203.

**Sekaggya, M**. 2013. *Report of the Special Rapporteur on the Situation of Human Rights Defenders*. Human Rights Council, A/HRC/25/55.

**Stevens, S., Broome, N. P., Jaeger, T.** 2016. *Recognizing and Respecting ICCAs Overlapped by Protected Areas*. Amsterdam, ICCA. www.iccaconsortium.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/publication-Recognising-and-Respecting-ICCAs-Overlapped-by-PAs-Stevens-et-al-2016-en.pdf

**Tauli-Corpuz, V**. 2016. Report of the Special Rapporteur of the Human Rights Council on the rights of indigenous peoples. UNGA A/71/229, 29 July 2019.

**Tuncak, B**. 2016. Report of the Special Rapporteur on the Implications for Human Rights of the Environmentally Sound Management and Disposal of Hazardous Substances and Wastes. Human Rights Council, A/HRC/33/41.

**UNEP (United Nations Environment Programme)**. 2004. Environmental Impact Assessment and Strategic Environmental Impact Assessment: Towards an Integrated Approach. Geneva, Switzerland. www.unep.org/resources/report/environmental-impact-assessment-and-strategic-environmental-assessment-towards

**WHO (World Health Organization)**. 2014. *Quantitative risk assessment of the effects of climate change on selected causes of death, 2030s and 2050s*. Geneva, Switzerland, WHO. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/134014

**WHO**. 2018. *Health, Environment and Climate Change*. Report by the Director-General at the World Health Assembly, 71. A71/10. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/276332

**WHO & CBD Secretariat**. 2015. *Connecting Global Priorities: Biodiversity and Human Health – A State of Knowledge Review*. Geneva, World Health Organization. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/174012

**World Resources Institute**. 2016. *Climate Benefits, Tenure Costs: The Economic Case for Securing Indigenous Land Rights in the Amazon*. Washington, D.C. www.wri.org/research/climate-benefits-tenure-costs

### **International instruments (legally binding)**

Additional Protocol to the American Convention on Human rights in the area of Economic, Social, and Cultural Rights (San Salvador Protocol). Adopted in San Salvador, 17 November 1988.

African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights. Adopted in Banjul, 1 June 1981.

American Convention on Human Rights (Pact of San José). Adopted in San José, Costa Rica, on 22 November 1969. It came into force on 18 July 1978.

Arab Charter on Human Rights. Adopted in Cairo, 22 May 2004.

Charter of the United Nations, (UN Charter). Adopted in San Francisco, 26 June 1945.

Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms (European Convention on Human Rights). Adopted in Rome, 4 November 1950.

Convention on Access to Information, Public Participation in Decision-making and Access to Justice in Environmental Matters (Aarhus Convention). Adopted by the United Nations Economic Commission for Europe, in Aarhus, Denmark, 25 June 1998.

Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD). Adopted in Nairobi, 22 May 1992, and open for signature at the Earth Summit in Rio de Janeiro 5, June 1992.

Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW), 18 December 1979. UNGA A/Res/34/180.

Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (CRPD). Adopted in New York, 30 March 2007.

Convention on the Rights of the Child (CRC), 20 November 1989. UNGA A/Res/44/25.

*European Social Charter*. Adopted by the Council of Europe, Strasbourg, France, 18 October 1961.

Human Rights Declaration of the ASEAN Countries. Adopted in Phnom Penh, 18 November 2012

*Indigenous and Tribal Peoples Convention, 1989 (ILO Convention 169),* International Labour Organization. Adopted in Geneva, 27 June 1989.

International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR), 16 December 1966. UNGA Resolution 2200A (XXI).

*International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Right* (ICESCR), 16 December 1966. UNGA Resolution 2200A (XXI).

International Convention on the Elimination of All forms of Racial Discrimination (ICERD), 21 December 1965. UNGA Resolution 2106 (XX).

*International Treaty on Plant Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture* (ITPGRFA). Adopted by the FAO Conference, Rome, 3 November 2001.

*Minamata Convention on Mercury* (Minamata Convention). Adopted in Minamata, Japan, 10 October 2013.

Nagoya Protocol on Access to Genetic Resources and the Fair and Equitable Sharing of Benefits Arising from their Utilization to the Convention on Biological Diversity, adopted in Nagoya, Japan, 29 October 2010.

*Paris Agreement*. Adopted by the Conference of the Parties to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, Paris, 12 December 2015. FCCC/CP/2015/L.9/Rev.1.

Regional Agreement on Access to Information, Public Participation and Justice in Environmental Matters in Latin America and the Caribbean (Escazú Agreement). Adopted in Escazú, Costa Rica, 4 March 2018, opened for signature 9 April 2018.

Rotterdam Convention on Prior Informed Consent Procedure for Certain Hazardous Chemicals and Pesticides in International Trade (Rotterdam Convention). Adopted in Rotterdam, Netherlands, 10 September 1998.

*Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants* (Stockholm Convention). Adopted in Stockholm, 22 May 2001.

United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification in those Countries Experiencing Serious Drought and/or Desertification, particularly in Africa (UNCCD). Adopted in Paris, 17 June 1994.

*United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change* (UNFCCC). Adopted in New York, 9 May 1992, and opened for signature in Rio de Janeiro, 4 June 1992.

### **International instruments (non-legally binding)**

Codex Alimentarius. The Eleventh FAO Conference establishes the Codex Alimentarius Commission and endorsement of a joint FAO/WHO Food Standards Programme. Resolution No. 12/61.

CBD (Convention on Biological Diversity) COP (Conference of the Parties) Decision V/6. Ecosystem Approach, 2000. UNEP/CBD/COP/DEC/V/6.

CBD COP Decision VI/7. Identification, Monitoring, Indicators and Assessments, 2002. UNEP/CBD/COP/DEC/VI/7.

CBD COP Decision VI/9. Global Strategy for Plant Conservation, 2002. UNEP/CBD/COP/DEC/VI/9.

CBD COP Decision VI/23. Alien Species that Threaten Ecosystems, Habitats or Species, 2002. UNEP/CBD/COP/DEC/VI/23.

CBD COP Decision VII/11. Ecosystem Approach, 2004. UNEP/CBD/COP/DEC/VII/11.

CBD COP Decision VII/12. Addis Ababa Principles and Guidelines for the Sustainable Use of Biodiversity, 2004. UNEP/CBD/COP/DEC/VII/12.

CBD COP Decision VII/16. Article 8(j) and related provisions, 2000. UNEP/CBD/COP/DEC/VII/16.

CBD COP Decision VII/16F. Akwé: Kon Voluntary guidelines for the conduct of cultural, environmental and social impact assessments regarding developments proposed to take place on, or which are likely to impact on, sacred sites and on lands and waters traditionally occupied or used by indigenous and local communities, 2000. UNEP/CBD/COP/DEC/VII/16.

CBD COP Decision VII/28. Protected Areas (Articles 8 (a) to (e)), 2004. UNEP/CBD/COP/DEC/VII/28.

CBD COP Decision VIII/28. Voluntary guidelines on biodiversity-inclusive impact assessment, 2006. These guidelines are an elaboration and refinement of guidelines previously endorsed by the CBD (Decision VI/7-A), the Ramsar Convention on Wetlands (Resolution VIII.9) and the Convention on Migratory Species (Resolution 7.2). UNEP/CBD/COP/DEC/VIII/28.

CBD COP Decision IX/2. Agricultural Biodiversity: Biofuels and Biodiversity, 2008. UNEP/CBD/COP/DEC/IX/2. CBD COP Decision X/2. The Strategic Plan for Biodiversity 2011-2020 and the Aichi Biodiversity Targets, 2010. UNEP/CBD/COP/DEC/X/2.

CBD COP Decision X/37. Biofuels and Biodiversity, 2010. UNEP/CBD/COP/DEC/X/37.

CBD COP Decision XI/9. Progress Report on Gender Mainstreaming, 2012. UNEP/CBD/COP/DEC/XI/9.

CBD COP Decision XII/5. Biodiversity for Poverty Eradication and Sustainable Development, 2014. UNEP/CBD/COP/DEC/XII/5.

CBD COP Decision XII/23. Marine and Coastal Biodiversity: Impacts an Marine and Coastal Biodiversity of Anthropogenic Underwater Noise and Ocean Acidification, Priority Actions to Achieve Aichi Biodiversity Target 10 for Coral Reefs and Closely Associated Ecosystems, and Marine Spatial Planning and Training Initiatives, 2014. UNEP/CBD/COP/DEC/XII/23.

CBD COP Decision XIII/3. Strategic Actions to Enhance the Implementation of the Strategic Plan for Biodiversity 2011-2020 and the Achievement of the Aichi Biodiversity Targets, Including with Respect to Mainstreaming and the Integration of Biodiversity within and across Sectors, 2016UNEP/CBD/COP/DEC/XIII/3.

*CBD COP Decision XIII/5. Ecosystem Restoration: Short-Term Action Plan, 2016.* UNEP/CBD/COP/DEC/XIII/5.

CBD COP Decision, XIII/6. Ecosystem Restoration: Short-Term Action Plan, 2016. UNEP/CBD/COP/DEC/XIII/6.

CBD COP Decision XIII/18. Article 8(j) and Related Provisions: Mo'otz Kuxtal Voluntary Guidelines, 2016. CBD COP, UNEP/CBD/COP/DEC/XIII/18.

CBD COP Decision XIV/4. Health and Biodiversity, 2018. UNEP/CBD/COP/DEC/XIV/4.

CBD COP Decision XIV/5. Biodiversity and Climate Change, 2018. UNEP/CBD/COP/DEC/XIV/4.

CBD COP Decision XIV/8. Protected Areas and Other Effective Area-Based Conservation Measures, 2018. UNEP/CBD/COP/DEC/XIV/4.

Declaration on the Right and Responsibility of Individuals, Groups and Organs of Society to Promote and Protect Universally Recognized Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms (Declaration on Human Rights Defenders). Adopted by UNGA, A/RES/53/144, 1998.

Declaration of the United Nations Conference on the Human Environment (Stockholm Declaration). Adopted by the United Nations Conference on the Human Environment at the 21st plenary meeting, Stockholm, 16 June 1972.

Guidelines for the Development of National Legislation on Access to Information, Public Participation and Access to Justice in Environmental Matters (Bali Guidelines). Adopted by the Governing Council of the United Nations Environment Programme in Decision SS.XI/5, part A of 26 February 2010.

*Human Rights and the Environment*. Resolution adopted by the Human Rights Council, 24 March 2017. A/HRC/RES/34/20.

OECD-FAO Guidance for Responsible Agricultural Supply Chains. Adopted by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) Council, 13 July 2016.

*Principles for Responsible Investment in Agriculture and Food Systems.* Endorsed by the Committee on World Food Security (CFS), 15 October 2014.

Resolution on the human right to a clean, healthy and sustainable environment. Adopted by the Human Rights Council, 8 October 2021. A/HRC/RES/48/13.

Rio Declaration on Environment and Development (Rio Declaration). Adopted in Rio de Janeiro, 3–14 June 1992.

*United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples* (UNDRIP). Adopted by UNGA, 13 September 2007. A/RES/61/295.

United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Peasants and Other People Working in Rural Areas (UNDROP). Adopted by UNGA, 17 December 2018. A/RES/73/165.

United Nations Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights: Implementing the United Nations "Protect, Respect and Remedy" Framework. Adopted by HRC, 16 June 2011. A/HRC/RES/17/4.

*Universal Declaration of Human Rights* (UDHR). Adopted by UNGA, Paris, 10 December 1948. A/RES/217 A (III).

Voluntary Guidelines for Securing Sustainable Small-scale fisheries in the context of food security and poverty eradication (SSF Guidelines). Adopted at the 31st Session of the Committee on Fisheries, Rome, 9-13 June 2014.

Voluntary Guidelines on the Responsible Governance of Tenure of Land, Fisheries and Forests in the Context of National Food Security (VGGT). Endorsed by the CFS, 11 May 2012.

## **Legal cases**

African Commission on Human and Peoples' Rights v. Republic of Kenya. African Court of Human and Peoples' Rights, 26 May 2017. Application No. 006/2012.

*Claude-Reyes et al. v. Chile*, Series C, No. 151. Inter-American Court of Human Rights (IACtHR), 19 September 2006.

Community of San Mateo de Huanchor v. Peru. Petition No. 504/03. Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, 15 October 2004.

*Giacomelli v. Italy*. European Court of Human Rights (ECHR), 26 March, 2007. Application No. 59909/00.

Guerra and Others v. Italy. ECHR, 19 February 1998. Application No. 14967/89.

Hatton and Others v. United Kingdom. ECHR, 8 July 2003. Application No. 360022/97.

Kaliña and Lokono Peoples v. Suriname. IACtHR, 25 November 2015. Series C, No. 309.

Kawas-Fernández v. Honduras. IACtHR, 3 April 2009. Series C, No. 196.

*López Ostra v. Spain*. European Commission on Human Rights, 9 December 1994. Application No. 16798/90.

Öneryildiz v. Turkey. ECHR, 30 November 2004. Application No. 48939/99.

*Pava porna v. Peru.* CCPR 2009. Communication No. 1457/2006, 27 March 2009. CCPR/C/95/D/1457/2006.

Portillo Cáceres and Others v Paraguay, CCPR, 2019. Communication No. 2751/2016, 9 August 2019. CCPR/C/126/D/2751.2016.

Saramaka People v. Suriname. IACtHR, 12 August 2007. Series, C, No. 185.

Social and Economic Rights Action Centre v. Nigeria. African Commission on Human and Peoples' Rights, 27 May 2002. Communication No. 155/96.

Taşkin and others v. Turkey. ECHR, 10 November 2004. Application No. 46117/99.

The Registered Trustees of the Socio-Economic Rights and Accountability Project (SERAP) v. Nigeria & UBEC. Community Court of Justice of the Economic Community of West African States, 30 November 2012. Application No. 12/07, ECW/CCJ/JUD/18/12.

*The State of the Netherlands v. Urgenda Foundation.* The Supreme Court of the Netherlands, 20 December 2019. Case 19/00135.

In this legal paper two leading thinkers in the field of human rights and environmental law combine their expertise to reflect on the interdependence of human rights and the environment and how this relationship is being shaped by international law.

This interdependence has many implications for the development and implementation of national laws on agricultural development and the management of renewable natural resources, ranging from land, water, fisheries, plants, and animals, to food, forestry, wildlife, biodiversity and trade laws.

This legal paper offers valuable insights into the Framework Principles on Human Rights and the Environment and other international and regional instruments, and provides guidance on how they can be put into practice. Legal experts advising on the development or review of national legislation in all aspects of natural resource governance will find a useful analysis of the most recent developments in the field, and some practical steps to contribute to the implementation of the internal agenda on human rights and the environment.

FAO Legal Office LEG-Director@fao.org

